## NONLINEAR PLASMA WAVE EXCITATION AND ITS BREAKING PHENOMENA

by

Mithun Karmakar (Enrolment No.-PHYS05201304010)

Saha Institute of Nuclear Physics, Kolkata

A thesis submitted to the Board of Studies in Physical Sciences

In partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

HOMI BHABHA NATIONAL INSTITUTE



April, 2018

## STATEMENT BY AUTHOR

This dissertation has been submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements for the doctoral degree at Homi Bhabha National Institute (HBNI) and is deposited in the Library to be made available to borrowers under rules of the HBNI.

Brief quotations from this dissertation are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the Competent Authority of HBNI when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is in the interests of scholarship. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Mithun Karmakar

## DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the investigation presented in the thesis has been carried out by me. The work is original and has not been submitted earlier as a whole or in part for a degree / diploma at this or any other Institution / University.

Mithun Karmakar

## List of Publications arising from the thesis

#### Peer reviewed journals

1. Relativistic wave-breaking limit of electrostatic waves in cold electron-positronion plasmas.

M. Karmakar, C. Maity, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, *The European Physical Journal D*, **2016**, 70(6), 16.

2. Wave-breaking amplitudes of relativistic upper-hybrid oscillations in a cold magnetized plasma.

M. Karmakar, C. Maity, and N. Chakrabarti, *Physics of Plasmas*, **2016**, 23, 064503.

3. Plasma wakefield excitation in a cold magnetized plasma for particle acceleration

M. Karmakar, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, *Physics of Plasmas*, **2017**, 24, 052111.

4. Phase-mixing of large amplitude electron oscillations in a cold inhomogeneous plasma.

M. Karmakar, C. Maity, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, *Physics of Plasmas*, **2018**, 25, 022102.

- Relativistic electron plasma oscillations in an inhomogeneous ion background.
  M. Karmakar, C. Maity, and N. Chakrabarti, Phys. Scr., 2018, 93, 065601.
- 6. Excitation of plasma wakefields by proton beam.

M. Karmakar, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, arXiv:1802.04525, 2018.

## **Other Publications**

a. Book/Book Chapters: NIL

### b. Conference/Symposium:

- Poster Presentation at 10th Asia Plasma and Fusion Association Conference (APFA- 2015) in December-2015, Institute for Plasma Research, Gandhinagar with the topic entitled with Wave-breaking Amplitudes of Relativistically Strong Electrostatic Waves in Cold Electron-positron-ion Plasmas. 2015
- Poster Presentation at 8th International Particle Accelerator Conference(IPAC17), Bella Center, Copenhagen, Denmark with the topic entitled with *Plasma* Wakefield Acceleration in a Cold Magnetized Electron Beam Driven Plasma.
   2017

Mithun Karmakar

# Dedicated to my respected teacher Sanjay Dalui

## Acknowledgements

First, I want to thank my supervisor guide Prof. Nikhil Chakrabarti whom I always have admired for his theoretical efficiency and skills. His unique methods of mentoring and insightful scientific inputs have played a significant role in the successful implementation and execution of all my research plans. He has not only helped me to establish an international collaborative scientific network during my Ph.D. period but also encouraged me whenever I actually needed it. This will definitely provide me a great exposure to perform any further research in the near future.

Next, my best feelings of gratitude go to Dr. Chandan Maity and Prof. Sudip Sengupta who have guided me in various ways in the development of my thesis work. I am indebted to them for their constant availability, valuable advices and suggestions throughout this research period.

I would like to thank Prof. Jens Juul Rasmussen of Technical University of Denmark and Dr. Ioannis Kourakis of Queen's University, Belfast, UK for many useful discussions I had made with them during my Ph.D. works.

Also, I want to thank my doctoral committee members Prof. M. S. Jankai, Prof. M. G. Mustafa and Prof. Debasish Majumdar for yearly evaluation of my thesis work. I greatly appreciate Prof. R. N. Pal and Prof. A. N. S. Iyenger for the valuable discussions made during this tenure.

I would like to acknowledge my seniors, Subir-da, Debu-da, Sudip-da, Anwesadi for their friendly attitude and cooperative behavior.

I am enormously thankful to all of the friends and colleagues for their continuous support and inspiration throughout these years. I grasp the opportunity to mention Prasanta, Sourav, Rajendra, Abdul, Goutam, Abhijit, Arijit, Santanu, Arka, Gouranga, Sabyasachi, Kuntal, Achyut, Amit, Arnab Singh, Arnab Pariari, Biswarup and many more.

I am very much thankful to all my family members, Sanjay-kaka and my teacher Bibhutibabu. They have inspired and supported me a lot in various ways.

Lastly, I want to mention those names who will always be in my heart and memories. They are my lab-mates Sourav, Satyajit, Sudipda, Anwesadi, Sabuj, Pankaj, Debu, Sayanee and Subha. Thanks to all of you for being such good friends.

SINP, Kolkata April, 2018

Mithun Karmakar

# Contents

Synopsis x			
List of figures xviii			xviii
1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	General Overview	2
	1.2	Plasma Wake Field Acceleration	4
		1.2.1 Electron Beam Driver Scheme	4
		1.2.2 Proton Beam Driver Scheme	5
		1.2.3 Some Attributes of Wake Field Accelerator	7
		1.2.4 Magnetic Field Effect on the particle acceleration	10
	1.3	Breaking of Nonlinear Plasma Wave	11
		1.3.1 Historical Development	11
		1.3.2 Homogeneous Plasma: Consideration of Ion Motion	12
		1.3.3 Breaking in Presence of an External Magnetic Field	13
		1.3.4 Wave Breaking via Phase Mixing	14
	1.4	Stationary Wave Ansatz and Lagrangian Fluid Technique	16
	1.5	Motivation	18
	1.6	Outline of the thesis	19
<b>2</b>	Cha	arged Particle Beam driven Plasma Wakefield Excitation	22
	2.1	Introduction	23
	2.2	Nonlinear solution for charged particle beam driven wake in mag-	
		netized plasma	24
	2.3	Effect of ion motion on electron/proton beam driven wake-field ac-	
		celeration	30
	2.4	Wake field excitation by trains of proton bunches	35
	2.5	Summary	37
3	Rel	ativistic wave-breaking limit of electrostatic waves in cold elec	tron-
	pos	itron-ion plasmas	39
	3.1	Introduction	40
	3.2	Determination of the wave-breaking amplitude	42

	3.3	summary	52
4	Way	ve-breaking amplitudes of relativistic upper-hybrid oscillations	53
	4.1	Introduction	54
	4.2	Travelling wave solution for upper hybrid wave	55
	4.3	Determination of breaking field amplitude	59
	4.4	Relation between Lagrangian and travelling wave solution	61
	4.5	Summary	62
<b>5</b>	Pha	se-mixing of large amplitude electron plasma oscillations in	
	pres	sence of ion inhomogeneity	64
	5.1	Introduction	65
	5.2	Basic Equations and Linear Analysis	66
	5.3	Nonlinear analysis: exact space-time dependent Lagrangian solution	69
	5.4	Approximate nonlinear solution: Homotopy Perturbation Method .	70
	5.5	Conclusion	76
6	Pha	se-mixing of relativistic electron plasma oscillations with back-	
	grou	and ion inhomogeneity	77
	6.1	Introduction	78
	6.2	The basic equations and nonlinear analysis	78
	6.3	Nonlinear solution in the weakly relativistic limit: Bogoliubov-Krylov	
		method	81
	6.4	Conclusion	85
7	Con	clusion	87
	7.1	Summary	88
	7.2	Future scope of the work	89
Bi	Bibliography 92		

## Synopsis

The primary concern of this thesis is to unravel the physics of charged particle beam driven plasma wake field excitation and to determine the breaking amplitude of such plasma waves. A detailed theoretical investigation has been performed to study the wake field structures of electron or proton driven plasma wake field accelerator incorporating both effects of external magnetic field and non-relativistic dynamics of ion fluid. Since the maximum amplitude of the electric field (wave breaking amplitude) that can be supported by plasma is an important entity in this acceleration process, a proper understanding of the wave breaking phenomena of different plasma modes is an important issue in this context. We have performed a thorough investigations on breaking phenomena of different plasma modes (relativistic electron plasma wave, upper hybrid wave etc.) in two or three component plasma systems in different physical situations. Admittedly, this studies have certain relevant implications in advancing the field of nonlinear relativistic wave dynamics as well as plasma based particle acceleration process.

There exist different kinds of mechanisms of plasma wake field excitation by laser or charged particle beams, such as, the plasma wake field accelerator (PWFA), the plasma beat-wave accelerator (PBWA), the laser wake field accelerator (LWFA) etc.[1] However, our main focus in this thesis has been centered around PWFA technology. The concept of PWFA was first proposed by Chen, Huff and Dawson in 1984.[2] In this acceleration scheme a charged particle is accelerated by the strong plasma wave excited behind a relativistically propagating electron beam through plasma. The driving beam electrons in the course of its propagation repel the plasma electrons to create an electron free positive space charge at the wake of the beam. The expelled electrons then snap back to the original positions and then overshoot to create a longitudinal electrostatic strong plasma wave. A late coming trailing beam of electrons launched at proper phase will then be accelerated to very high energy.

In an earlier theoretical investigation on PWFA, Rosenzweig discusses the generation of nonlinear wake waves behind a rectangular electron pulse.[3] He has obtained an analytical expression of transformer ratio (R), i.e., the ratio of the maximum accelerating electric field amplitude outside the beam to the maximum decelerating field inside the beam for the unmagnetized beam driven plasma. Motivated by this work, we have extended his analysis to magnetized plasma systems. By constructing a travelling wave solution, we get some significant results which can influence in improving the efficiency of the particle acceleration. We have reported here the excitation mechanism of wake field behind a relativistic, specially shaped electron beam (rectangular or Gaussian) passing through the plasma.[4] Also, the effects of magnetic field and variation of peak beam density on the transformer ratio (R) are discussed elaborately. The results corresponding to the limit of zero magnetic field have been readily reproduced from our solution. Earlier, it has been speculated by Rosenzweig that inclusion of ion motion could have some effects on the particle acceleration process.[3] In order to show its effect, a numerical investigation has been performed and it has been established that consideration of non-relativistic ion motion does not affect much on the stationary structures of wake-wave electric field. However, we conjecture that the inclusion of relativistic motion of ion may have some effects in the wake field profiles which we hope to report in the near future.

In single stage acceleration process, in the laser pulse or electron bunch driver schemes, it is not possible to reach TeV order of energy. Moreover, the energy gain in this case is limited by the energy carried by the electron driver which is very small ( $\sim 100$  J). To overcome these shortcomings one may use a proton beam to excite the strong plasma wake wave. A proton bunch carrying energy of the order of kJ is capable of producing such energy in a single plasma stage. Because of their higher energy and mass, proton can drive wake fields over a very longer plasma lengths. Since protons are positively charged and much heavier than electrons, the physics of proton driven wake field accelerator is different from electron beam driven plasma. In case of negatively charged driver, background plasma electrons are repelled to cerate a blow out regime where the wake field is produced. Proton beam, on the other hand, sucks in the plasma electrons towards the propagation axis and creates the wake wave electric field. A trailing witness bunch of electrons then extracts energy from the drive beam and thereby get accelerated to relativistic energies. Although a large number of experimental as well as numerical simulations have been reported in the recent past to explore PDPWFA scheme, [6, 7] there exists a limited number of theoretical investigations carried out to unfold the physics of proton driven plasma wake field acceleration mechanism. Such an attempt has been made in one of our works where similar to the electron beam driven plasma a travelling wave solution for the PDPWFA has been obtained. We consequently consider the effect of an external focusing magnetic field on the wake field structures.

As stated earlier, one of the significant entities which determine the maximum energy gain in this acceleration process is the breaking amplitude of the excited plasma wave. For a plasma wave there is always a maximum limiting amplitude of the electric field beyond which the wave loses its coherent nature. At this critical amplitude limit, the plasma fluids' velocity at the crest of wave exceeds the phase velocity of the wave and, consequently, a wave breaks. In such a situation, gradient of wave electric field becomes infinite and ordering of oscillators constituting the wave gets destroyed leading to multi-stream flow. Breaking of plasma wave can also be possible even long before attaining this limiting amplitude by a process called 'phase mixing'. Phase mixing is physically attributed to the space dependency in the characteristic frequency of the plasma wave which happens due to different types of nonlinearities coming from inhomogeneity in the background density or in the magnetic field, relativistic electron mass variation effect, ion motion etc.

The studies on wave breaking began with the theoretical investigation of relativistic electron plasma wave by Akheizher and Polovin in 1956 who have obtained an expression of maximum electric field amplitude sustained by such plasma wave.[8] Thereafter, a large number of theoretical and experimental works are performed to demonstrate the physics of wave breaking. Evidently, the wave which is excited behind a relativistic electron beam or an intense laser pulse is nothing but the high frequency relativistic electron plasma wave (Akheizher-Polovin waves) or upper hybrid plasma wave (magnetized plasma). So it is fundamentally a pertinent issue to investigate elaborately the breaking phenomena of such plasma waves/oscillations in various physical situations.

Our next work is dedicated to study the breaking phenomena of one-dimensional relativistically strong electrostatic electron plasma wave in cold unmagnetized electron-positron-ion (EPI) plasmas which is still an unexplored area in this field till date. EPI plasmas are encountered in various astrophysical situations, including early universe[9], pulsar magnetosphere[10], also in laser matter interaction in Laboratory experiment.[11] We have adopted the well known Pseudo Potential technique[5] and transformed the problem of nonlinear plasma wave phenomena into a simplified classical mechanical problem of a fictitious single particle motion in a potential well. It is indeed a generalized model in which the dynamics of all the three species are taken to be relativistic. Consideration of ion motion can be justified due to the fact that the use of highly intense laser beam or ultra-relativistic charged particle beam can induce even the ion to follow relativistic dynamics along with the other two lighter species. The maximum permissible electric field amplitude before wave-breaking (wave-breaking amplitude) has been derived. We found that increasing the ratio of ion to electron density ( $\alpha$ ) has an effect to reduce the maximum supported amplitude of the plasma wave in the three component plasma system. It has been established that the breaking amplitude is maximum for the electron-positron plasma and minimum for the electron-ion plasma while for electron-positron-ion plasma the limiting amplitude is intermediate between these two. We have also reported in this work the effect of  $\alpha$  on the wavelength of the plasma wave.

Next, we have extended our analysis of wave breaking incorporating the effect of magnetic field on the nonlinear plasma wave phenomena in electron-ion plasma system. There are different kinds of modes which are developed in presence of an external magnetic field in plasma. The high frequency relativistic upper hybrid oscillation (RUHO) is one of such modes, the space time evolution of which has been discussed in one of the recent works of Maity et al. [12] However, this analvsis does not provide us any explicit information about the breaking electric field amplitude for such high frequency electrostatic wave. In order to give an analytical expression of maximum field amplitude sustainable by RUHO, we have obtained a travelling wave solution for such high frequency mode. It is found that the wavebreaking amplitude of RUHOs for a fixed phase velocity, decrease with the increase of the strength of the ambient magnetic field. We have also constructed this travelling wave solution from the exact space-time dependent solution of RUHOs by appropriately choosing initial conditions. It is established that these stationary waves are very sensitive to a small deviation of the initial conditions. A slight longitudinal perturbation causes such waves to break at arbitrary amplitudes via the phase-mixing process.

Most of the earlier investigation on wave breaking have been performed with the consideration of homogeneous ion background. However, presence of inhomogeneity in the ion density can cause the wave to break at arbitrarily small ampltudes. In our next work we have discussed the wave breaking phenomena in such an inhomogeneous plasma system. A non-relativistic analysis of electron plasma oscillations in presence of a time stationary but space periodic ion density profile has been performed. Here, the main difference from most of the earlier analyses is that, in presence of ion inhomogeneity, instead of treating a uniform initial electron density we have considered a finite amplitude electron perturbation. In order to investigate the mode-coupling effect of electron plasma wave, Kaw et al. have chosen this type of initial condition.[13] The presence of inhomogeneity in the ion density can make the characteristic frequency of the plasma wave to acquire space dependency. Thereby, different parts of the fluid elements start to oscillate with difference frequencies destroying the phase coherency which ultimately leads to the breaking of the wave. We have adopted Lagrangian fluid technique to obtain an exact non-stationary parametric solution to describe wave breaking via phase mixing. Also we have performed a homotopy perturbation analysis which explicitly gives us the dependence of phase-mixing time on the initial conditions. The phase-mixing time is found to depend on the amplitudes of both ion density fluctuation and electron density perturbation as well as on the scale length ratio of their variations in space.

Our investigation of phase mixing process is further extended to include the relativistic mass variation effect of electron. The initial condition has been chosen similar to the non-relativistic case described above. Inhomogeneous ion along with the relativistic variation of electron mass make the characteristic frequency of the wave to acquire a space dependency and thereby it breaks at arbitrarily small amplitude due to phase mixing. A fully exact analytical solution for the nonlinear relativistic electron plasma wave in inhomogeneous plasma system encounters with significant mathematical complexities. So we have obtained an approximate space time dependent solution in the weakly relativistic limit by Bogoliuboff and Kryloff method[14] of averaging by making an acceptable simplifying assumption. We find that the change in the ion density perturbation and also the relativistic electron mass variation have significant effect in modifying the time at which phase mixing occurs.

The theoretical studies made in this thesis on plasma wave excitation by relativistic charged particle beam and its breaking phenomena have wide range of applicability. For example, the plasma wake field excitation by the injection of driving electron in solar coronal and chromospheric plasmas is the basic process by which solar flare electrons are accelerated to extreme high energies.[15] Also, in the experimental context, our theoretical investigation has relevant importance in the ongoing Advanced Proton Driven Plasma Wakefield Acceleration Experiment (AWAKE) project at CERN.[16] On the other hand, in plasma heating process, in the generation of fast electron and also in self ignition process, breaking of plasma wave plays a very significant role. The submission of this synopsis is recommended and approved by the Doctoral committee.

# Bibliography

- [1] T. Tajima and J. M. Dawson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43, 267 (1979).
- [2] P. Chen, J. M. Dawson, W. Robert Huff, and T. Katsouleas, Phys. Rev.Lett. 54, 693-696 (1985).
- [3] J. B. Rosenzweig, Phys. Rev. Lett. **61**, 98 (1988).
- [4] T. Katsouleas, Physical Review A **33**, 2056 (1986).
- [5] A. G. Khachatryan, Phys. Rev. E 58, (1998) 7799.
- [6] A. Caldwell, K. Lotov, A. Pukhov, and G. Xia, Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 53, 014003 (2010).
- [7] A. Caldwell, K. Lotov, A. Pukhov, and G. Xia , Nature Phys. 5, 363367 (2009).
- [8] A. I. Akhiezer and R. V. Polovin, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 30, 915 (1956) [Sov. Phys. JETP 3, 696 (1956)].
- [9] P. A. Sturrock, Astrophys. J. **164**, (1971) 529.
- [10] F. C. Michel, Rev. Mod. Phys. 54, (1982) 1.
- [11] H. Chen, S. C. Wilks, J. D. Bonile, E. P. Liang, J. Myatt, D. F. Price, D. D. Meyerhofer, and P. Beiersdorfer, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, (2009) 105001.
- [12] C. Maity, A. Sarkar, P. K. Shukla, and N. Chakrabarti, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 215002 (2013).
- [13] P. K. Kaw, A. T. Lin, and J. M. Dawson, Phys. Fluids 16, 1967 (1973).
- [14] N. N. Bogoliubov and V. A. Mitropolsky, Asymptotic Methods in the Theory of Nonlinear Oscillations, Hindustan Publishing, Delhi (1961).

- [15] D. Tsiklauri, Phys. Plasmas 24, 072902 (2017).
- [16] E. Gschwendtner, E. Adli et al., Nucl. Instrum. Methods A 829, 76 (2016).

# List of Figures

2.1	Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic	
	field in electron beam driven $\text{plasma}[\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1]$ , with beam	
	density $[\alpha = 0.5 \text{ for } 0 \leq \zeta \leq 5.6\pi \text{ and zero otherwise}], 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0,$	
	$2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.2, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 4 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7.$	25
2.2	Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without	
	magnetic field in electron beam driven plasma $[\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1],$	
	with beam density $[\alpha = 0.5 \text{ for } 0 \leq \zeta \leq 5.6\pi \text{ and zero otherwise}],$	
	$1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.2, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 4 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7.$	26
2.3	Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field	
	in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma $[A_0=0.5,\zeta_c=$	
	$6, \sigma_x = 1.0$ ] and $\beta_{ph} = 1, \ \beta_b = 1; \ 1 \to \Omega = 0, \ 2 \to \Omega = 0.4,$	
	$3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7.$	27
2.4	Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without	
	magnetic field in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma	
	$[A_0 = 0.5, \zeta_c = 6, \sigma_x = 1.0]$ and $\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1; 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0,$	
	$2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.4, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	28
2.5	Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field	
	in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma $[A_0=2.0,\zeta_c=$	
	$6, \sigma_z = 1.0$ ] and $\beta_{ph} = 1, \ \beta_b = 1; \ 1 \to \Omega = 0, \ 2 \to \Omega = 0.5,$	
	$3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9.$	30
2.6	Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without	
	magnetic field in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma	
	$[A_0 = 2.0, \zeta_c = 6, \sigma_z = 1.0]$ and $\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1; 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0,$	
	$2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	31

2.7	Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field	
	in proton beam driven plasma [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ , $\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with beam	
	density $[\alpha = 0.5 \text{ for } 0 \le \zeta \le 5.6\pi \text{ and zero otherwise}], 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0,$	
	$2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	32
2.8	Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without	
	magnetic field in proton beam driven plasma [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995, \ \beta_b =$	
	0.995], with beam density [ $\alpha = 0.5$ for $0 \leq \zeta \leq 5.6\pi$ and zero	
	otherwise], $1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9.$	32
2.9	Stationary solution for electric field and potential in electron beam	
	driven plasma with non-relativistic ion motion (dashed lines) and	
	for static ions(continuous lines)	33
2.10	Variation of normalized electric field in a proton beam driven plasma	
	$[\beta_{ph} = 0.995, \beta_b = 0.995]$ , with beam density $[\alpha = 0.5 \text{ for } 0 \leq \zeta \leq$	
	$5.6\pi$ and zero otherwise]	33
2.11	Variation of normalized perturbed electron density in a proton beam	
	driven plasma [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995, \beta_b = 0.995$ ], with beam density [ $\alpha = 0.5$	
	for $0 \le \zeta \le 5.6\pi$ and zero otherwise]	34
2.12	Variation of normalized electric field in absence of magnetic field	
	driven by a train of equidistant proton micro-bunches [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ ,	
	$\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with peak beam density $\alpha_0 = 0.5$	36
2.13	Variation of normalized perturbed electron density in absence of	
	magnetic field driven by a train of equidistant proton micro-bunches	
	$[\beta_{ph} = 0.995, \beta_b = 0.995]$ , with peak beam density $\alpha = 0.5.$	36
<b>ი</b> 1	Normalized alectrostatic restartial of the relative second of the	
3.1	Normalized electrostatic potential of the patential equation for different	
	tailed by numerical solving of the potential equation for different values of a with $w = 1/1826$ and $w = 10$	45
2.0	values of $\alpha$ with $\mu = 1/1830$ and $\gamma = 10$	40
3.2	variation of normalized potential for different values of $\alpha$ in EPI $(0, z, z, 1) = 1$ EP $(z, z, 0)$ has a zero zith zero 1/182C zero 10	
	$(0 < \alpha < 1)$ and EP $(\alpha = 0)$ plasmas with $\mu = 1/1850$ and $\gamma = 10$ .	
	The potential $U(\varphi)$ is real in the range $1/\gamma \leq \varphi \leq 2 - (1/\gamma)$ . All the three energies are relativistic	17
ეი	Variation of normalized wave breaking electric field even it.	41
ა.ა	variation of normalized wave-breaking electric field amplitude with $1/1826$ for different $\alpha$ . All the three energies are whith introduced to the second s	10
	$\alpha$ for $\mu = 1/1830$ for different $\gamma$ . All the three species are relativistic.	49

3.4	Phase portrait in case of EPI and/or EP plasmas: $1 \rightarrow \alpha = 0,2 \rightarrow$	
	$\alpha = 0.2, \ 3 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.4, \ 4 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.6, \ 5 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.8, \ 6 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.99$	
	with $\mu = 1/1836$ and $\gamma = 10$	50
3.5	Variation of normalized plasma wavelength with the equilibrium	
	ion to electron concentration ratio $\alpha$ : $(1 \rightarrow \gamma = 1.01, 2 \rightarrow \gamma = 5,$	
	$3 \rightarrow \gamma = 10$ ). The electron to ion mass ratio $\mu = 1/1836$ in all cases.	50
3.6	Phase portrait in case of electron-ion plasmas for $(1 \rightarrow \gamma = 1.2,$	
	$2 \rightarrow \gamma = 5, 3 \rightarrow \gamma = 10$ ). The electron to ion mass ratio $\mu = 1/1836$	
	in all cases.	51
4.1	Variation of normalized electric field of RUHOs, with $\beta = 0.5, \gamma_{ph} =$	
	10, and $\alpha = 1.5$	56
4.2	Variation of normalized electron density associated with RUHOs,	
	with $\beta = 0.5, \gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and $\alpha = 1.5.$	57
4.3	Variation of normalized $x$ -component of relativistic electron momen-	
	tum, with $\beta = 0.5$ , $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and $\alpha = 1.5$ .	58
4.4	Variation of normalized $y$ -component of relativistic electron momen-	
	tum, with $\beta = 0.5$ , $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and $\alpha = 1.5$ .	59
4.5	Variation of normalized wave-breaking field with magnetic field ( $\beta =$	
	$\Omega_e/\omega_{uh}$ ) of RUHOs, with $\gamma_{ph} = 10.$	60
5.1	Phase-space curves from exact solution for different values of $\bar{x}$ . Here	
	$\delta_e = 0.2,  \delta_i = 0.1,  \text{and}  \kappa = 0.1.  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  $	71
5.2	Phase-space curves from homotopy perturbation solution for differ-	
	ent values of $\bar{x}$ . Here $\delta_e = 0.2$ , $\delta_i = 0.1$ , and $\kappa = 0.1$	71
5.3	Space-time evolution of normalized electron density $n_e/n_0$ with $\delta_e =$	
	0.2, $\delta_i = 0.2$ , and $\kappa = 0.1$ . The phase-mixing/wave-breaking time	
	$\omega_p t_{\rm mix} \sim 45.$	73
5.4	Normalized electric field profiles as a function of $k_e x (E_0 = 0.45 m_e \omega_p^2 / k_e^2)$	e)
	for $\delta_e = 0.45$ and $\kappa = 0.1$ . Here $a_1, a_2$ , and $a_3$ correspond to	
	$\delta_i = 0, 0.01$ , and 0.05, respectively, at $\omega_p t = \pi$ . And, $b_1, b_2$ , and $b_3$	
	correspond to $\delta_i = 0, 0.01$ , and 0.05, respectively, at $t = 0, 2\pi$ along	
	with $c_1, c_2$ , and $c_3$ is at $t = \pi/2, 3\pi/2$ for $\delta_i = 0, 0.01$ , and 0.05,	
	respectively	74
5.5	Variation of approximate phase-mixing time $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}}$ with $\delta_i$ for dif-	
	ferent values of $\delta_e$ , with $\kappa = 0.1$	75

6.1	Electron density profiles. Here $\delta_e = 0.3$ , $\delta_i = 0.2$ , $\kappa = 0.1$ and $\bar{x} = \pi$ .	83
6.2	Phase-space curves for different values of $\kappa \bar{x}$ . Here $\beta = 0.4, \delta_e = 0.3$ ,	
	$\delta_i = 0.1$ and $\kappa = 0.1$ .	83
6.3	Phase-mixing time vs. $\delta_i$ for different values of $\beta$ . Here $\delta_e = 0.3$	
	and $\kappa = 0.1.$	84

# Chapter 1 Introduction

This thesis is primarily aimed to provide a theoretical description of strong plasma wave excitation process and plasma wave breaking phenomena. The generation mechanism of such wave at the wake of relativistically propagating electron or proton beam along with the investigation of the effect of external magnetic field on wake field structures have been studied extensively. Also, since the breaking amplitude of plasma wave plays an important role in the plasma based wake field acceleration process, breaking phenomena have been thoroughly analyzed for two different high frequency nonlinear plasma modes (Langmuir wave and upper hybrid wave). Breaking amplitudes have been analytically derived for the electron plasma wave in three component electron-position-ion plasma as well as for the upper hybrid wave in two component electron ion plasma. Moreover, the phase mixing which acts as the potential mechanism responsible for high frequency plasma wave breaking has been discussed incorporating the effect of both relativistic mass variation and inhomogeneity in the background ion density.

## **1.1 General Overview**

Plasma, an ensemble of ionized particles interacting collectively via electric and magnetic field, holds a rich varieties of characteristics and supports various fundamental modes.[1–3] The excitation mechanism and the dynamical evolution of such modes have long been studied both from the theoretical and experimental perspective because of its wide range of practical applicabilities.

One of the key applications of relativistically strong plasma wave is to produce ultra high energy charged particles for the purpose of high energy physics research. The superiority of using plasma as accelerating medium instead of vacuum emerges due to its capability to produce high electric field over a very short distance (several hundreds of Giga-Volts/meter). This large electric field is excited due to the collective response of plasma particles to the strong electric field of laser pulse or charged particle beam. The use of laser pulse to excite plasma wake field was first proposed by Tajima and Dawson in 1979.[4] The process of plasma beat wave (PBW) excitation, proposed earlier by Rosenbluth and Liu, 5] is relevant to the idea of Tajima and Dawson and is a mechanism worth to be mentioned here. PBW excitation requires two laser pulses and a careful tuning of the laser frequencies such that the difference in frequencies equals the plasma frequency. The plasma wake field is resonantly excited by the beat wave produced by the two laser pulses. An obvious advantage in advancing from PBW to laser wake field (LWF) accelerator is that, in LWF excitation instead of two, the ponderomotive force of a single, short, ultra-intense laser pulse is used to drive a plasma wave. [6–8] This considerably simplifies the experimental requirements. Alternatively, instead of using a highly intense laser pulse, excitation of a relativistically strong plasma wake fields can also be done by driving an ultra-relativistic bunch of charged particles (plasma wake field accelerator [PWFA]) through plasma.[9–15] Exploration of the physics of such PWFA mechanism is one of the key issues in this thesis.

The highest energy that can be gained in this wake field acceleration process is determined by the maximum permissible electric field amplitude that can be supported by the plasma system. This limiting amplitude is dictated by a process called plasma *wave breaking* which occurs due to presence of different types of nonlinearities associated with relativistic electron mass variation,[16–20] background density inhomogeneity,[21–23] ion motion[24] etc. Usually, due to such nonlinear effects a plasma wave starts to lose its periodic sinusoidal nature and transforms into triangular wave shape followed by occurrence of an infinite gradient in the electric field profile and eventually the breaking happens. In the hydrodynamic definition, it is an indication of attaining a critical amplitude of a plasma wave beyond which wave coherence is destroyed and the particles become completely random. Physically speaking, at the onset of breaking, the plasma fluids' velocity at the crest of the wave exceeds its phase velocity. In such a situation, ordering of oscillators constituting the wave gets destroyed and the multi-stream flow is generated.

In this thesis, our theoretical studies are aimed to investigate nonlinear plasma wave excitation and breaking phenomena of such waves in varied physical contexts with the purpose to get a more clear vision of the physics involved in such processes. Before presenting the detailed illustration of our investigation, here we will provide the general background and the primary motivation of performing such analysis.

## 1.2 Plasma Wake Field Acceleration

There are basically two different charged particle beam driven wake field excitation schemes. One is to use relativistically propagating electron beam to excite the wake wave and the other is proton beam driven plasma wake field accelerator (PDPWFA). Because of the differences in their masses and charges of electron and proton, the physical processes involved in the wake field excitation and the characteristic features of the wake field structures differ appreciably in these two different charged particle acceleration methods.

### **1.2.1** Electron Beam Driver Scheme

In this acceleration scheme, the energy of a relativistically strong electron beam (driving beam) is first transferred to excite plasma wave and then extracting this energy a trailing beam of electrons (driven witness beam) is accelerated. As discussed, unlike the laser driven wake field accelerator, where a ponderomotive force is generated, here a space charge is developed behind the electron beam to excite the wake wave.[8, 25] The Coulomb force of the driving beam's space charge repels the plasma electrons while the beam passes through the plasma medium. These expelled electrons snap back to their original positions to regain the charge neutrality and consequently they overshoot again to set up a longitudinal plasma oscillation that trails behind the driving beam. Finally, a late-coming beam of electrons launched at a proper phase can be accelerated to very high energy by the excited wake wave.

The successful implementation of the idea of plasma wave excitation by launching relativistic charged particle beam through plasma medium was first made by Chen, Huff and Dawson in 1985. [26] They have employed a series of short electron bunches as the driving beam in order to excite the wake wave. It was found that in this acceleration process energy gain is only limited to  $2\gamma_b mc^2$ , where  $\gamma_b mc^2$  is the drive beam energy with  $\gamma_b = [1 - (v_b/c)^2)]^{-1/2}$  being the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with beam velocity  $v_b$ . This limitation arises due to various effects associated with non ideal bunch shapes, transverse plasma dynamics, dephasing of accelerated particles etc. [14, 25, 27] Bane et al. have proposed that this limit can be overcome by using properly shaped driving bunch of finite longitudinal extent.[14] It was confirmed later by the theoretical investigation of T. Katsouleas who has examined the physical processes involved in PWFA with realistic and experimentally realizable choice of beam shapes. [25] Thereafter, a large number of experiments have been performed during the last few decades, to reach the energy range of several GeV by this PWFA scheme. [8, 10, 12, 25, 28] In a very recent experiment, Blumenfeld et al. successfully accelerated electrons from the tail of the driving beam of energy 42 GeV to maximum energy of 85 GeV at SLAC (Stanford Linear Accelerator Center).[29]

In our research work we have performed a theoretical investigation of such electron beam driven wake field acceleration process in presence of an external magnetic field and also discussed the effect of drive beam amplitude and shape on the wake field structures.

#### **1.2.2** Proton Beam Driver Scheme

Over the last few decades, researches on the plasma based acceleration process were mainly focused in creating the wake field by launching a highly relativistic electron beam or an intense laser pulse into the plasma. [4, 5, 11, 30–32] In electron beam driven PWFA scheme, an energy range of the order of several GeV was reported. [29] However, it is not obvious how to reach the present day energy frontier of the particle physics i.e. teraelectronvolt regime by these schemes. First of all, it requires multiple stage acceleration which encounters a great deal of technological difficulties. [33, 34] On the other hand, the energy gain is limited by the energy carried by the electron driver which is very small ( $\sim 100$  J). So, in such cases an alternative approach is to use proton beam as the driving beam instead of electron. The availability of proton beam with the energy of several TeV makes it possible to excite plasma wake wave which can accelerate electrons in this high energy range. Moreover, a proton bunch carrying energy of the order of kJ is capable of producing such energy in a single plasma stage. [35, 36] Because of their higher energy and mass, proton can drive wake fields over a very longer plasma lengths. This proton-driver scheme is therefore much more superior compared to the other accelerators.

Since protons are positively charged and much heavier than electrons, the physics of proton driven wake field accelerator is different from electron beam driven plasma. In case of a negatively charged driver, background plasma electrons are repelled to create a blow out regime where the wake field is produced. Proton beams, on the other hand, suck in the plasma electrons towards the propagation axis and create the wake wave electric field. The linear analysis of proton beam driven scheme reveals that except for a difference in phase factor the excited wake electric field distribution is same as that of electron beam driven case.[37] However, significant differences are observed in the nonlinear structures for these two different acceleration schemes. During the recent past a great deal of attention has been given to investigate the proton driven charged particle acceleration method both experimentally and also in computer simulation. [36, 38–43] In 2009, Caldwell *et al.* have first proposed the scheme of proton-bunch driven plasma wake field acceleration (PDPWFA) and discussed its potentiality of producing TeV range energy in single plasma stage. [35, 36, 38] Later, a detailed numerical investigation has been performed by K. V. Lotov to identify the main effects limiting the energy efficiency in this scheme. In 2011, A. Caldwell and K. V. Lotov discussed the wake field excitation process by the modulated proton bunches. [39] A recent experiment at CERN-the AWAKE has been performed to understand the detailed physical processes involved in PDPWFA.[35] However, a well defined theoretical model to describe such phenomena has not still been witnessed till date. We have attempted to provide an analytical investigations of nonlinear wave dynamics and developed systematic studies on the dynamical evolution of such proton beam driven wake wave with the inclusion of the effect of plasma ion dynamics and magnetic field on the wake field structures.

In the next few sections we will discuss some of the notable characteristic features of the charged particle beam as well as several nonlinear effects encountered in these wake field acceleration processes.

## 1.2.3 Some Attributes of Wake Field Accelerator

#### Phase Slippage

The efficient excitation of the wake field and successful electron acceleration to high energy depend on some key effects. One such effect is the occurrence of 'phase slippage'.[26, 39] In the wake field acceleration process, once the accelerating electrons catch up with the plasma wave and start to accelerate, they can outrun it after traversing a certain distance, called the dephasing length.[34] In the proton driver scheme, this phase slippage can occur between the proton driving bunch and the electron witness bunch. Proton bunch traveling through the plasma may slow down and the phase relationship with the light electron bunch will begin to change.[39, 40] Unless special care is taken to minimize this phase slippage, there may be a possibility of the degradation in energy gain.

#### **Beam Characteristics**

In unmagnetized plasma it was experimentally observed that the final amount of accelerated charge is appreciably lower than the injected charge.[44] This is due to the fact that it is not possible for all of the charged particles in the beam to couple with the plasma wake field. Also, it may happen that due to some instability caused during the propagation of the beam, the beam head get expanded laterally which can cause the large spread in final accelerated particle energy.[38, 45] The transverse electric field at the wake of the beam as well as the presence of an external magnetic field can minimize this lateral expansion by focusing the propagating beam. Recently, Litos *et al.* performed an experiment and have shown that this spread in the beam energy distribution can be minimized with certain extent with a suitable arrangement.[10]

One of the significant disadvantages in the proton beam driven acceleration scheme is that the proton bunches available today are much more longer in size compared to the plasma wavelength. So they are not resonant and excitation of strong wake field is not so efficient. However, a process called self modulational instability can cause such long proton bunch to split over a large number of microbunches which then efficiently excite the plasma wake wave.[39–43] In the recent past, a numerical analysis has been performed to analyze the excitation mechanism of wake field by such trains of equidistant particle bunches.[40] Caldwell and Lotov have discussed the splitting mechanism of long proton bunches by the modulational instability.[39] In our theoretical investigation we have also discussed the excitation of wake wave by using such proton microbunches.

#### **Transformer Ratio**

In the wake field acceleration process a parameter called 'transformer ratio' (R) has been introduced to quantify the energy efficiency.[25, 27, 30] It is defined as the ratio of the maximum energy gained by the accelerated beam to the initial drive beam energy. Alternatively, it can be defined as the ratio of the maximum accelerating electric field  $(E_+)$  behind the driving bunch, to the maximum retarding electric field  $(E_-)$  within the bunch. In the wake field acceleration process, the drive beam loses all its energy by this maximum decelerating electric field and the driven witness beam gains the energy by the maximum accelerating field. So, the energy is actually transferred from the drive to driven accelerated beam with the transformer ratio  $R = (E_+/E_-)$ . T. Katsouleas has presented a physical derivation of this transformer ratio in the context of wake field acceleration.[25] Rosenzweig has provided an analytical expression of the transformer ratio (R) in investigating the generation of wake wave behind a rectangular electron pulse.[30]

## **1.2.4** Magnetic Field Effect on the particle acceleration

One way to control the phase slippage between the particles and the accelerating electric field is to apply a perpendicular magnetic field which can make the particles to deflect across the wave front; prevents them to outrun the wave. The effect of such an external magnetic field has rarely been reported in the context of particle acceleration by plasma wake wave. In presence of an external magnetic field, an electrostatic relativistic upper hybrid wave is excited in the wake of a relativistic electron beam passing through plasma.[46–48] In contrast to the unmagnetized case, this fast electrostatic wave can accelerate the electrons to arbitrarily high energy.

The usefulness of an external magnetic field has been discussed by Katsouleas and Dawson in the context of charged particle acceleration.[13] It was shown that unlimited electron acceleration is possible, at least from the theoretical point of view, by the relativistic upper-hybrid (UH) wave electric fields due to the surfatron process. Presence of an external magnetic field also helps to confine the trailing beam charge at the wavefront of the wake wave and thereby to enhance its coupling with the wake field over a very long distance. Furthermore, magnetic field also controls over the focusing characteristics of the witness beam which accounts for the very low energy spread of the final accelerated beam.

Keeping in mind the importance of an external magnetic field, a complete understanding of the effect of such magnetic field on the wake field structures is therefore pre-requisite.

## **1.3** Breaking of Nonlinear Plasma Wave

## 1.3.1 Historical Development

Small amplitude electron plasma oscillation is a well-understood process and has been studied quite extensively. However, if the amplitude is high, some of the nonlinear effects come into play, which have a very significant role in the generation and breaking of electrostatic electron plasma wave. Nonlinear plasma wave theory began with the investigation to discuss the effect of the nonlinearity associated with the relativistic electron mass variation by Akheizher and Polovin in 1956.[49] They have provided a general theoretical study for longitudinal relativistic electron plasma waves and determined that the breaking amplitude of such waves was  $\sqrt{2(\gamma-1)}$ , where,  $\gamma = [1-(v_{ph}/c)^2)]^{-1/2}$  and  $v_{ph}$  is the phase velocity of the wave. Later, Dawson has introduced the notion of non-relativistic wave breaking limit and demonstrated that the non-relativistic limit of Akheizher Polovin description directly follows from the space time dependent Lagrangian solution. [21] Couple of years later, he has described the phenomena of wave breaking in terms of sheet model. [50] In this novel theoretical model, the dynamics are described by following electron trajectories instead of the fluid elements. The point at which two different electron trajectories start to cross each other, wave breaking occurs. Davidson and Schram have then obtained an exact space time dependent Lagrangian solution of the nonlinear non-relativistic Langmuir wave. [51] They have found that there is a restriction in the choice of initial electron density perturbation amplitude for which the coherent plasma oscillation is maintained indefinitely over the region of initial excitation. Particularly, if the perturbation amplitude exceeds half of the equilibrium density, then multi-stream flow is developed in the system which leads to the destruction of the wave. However, this limitation emerges solely from the mathematical limitation on the uniqueness of the transformation from the Eulerian to Lagrangian co-ordinates but do not represent any physical limitation. Thereafter, thermal corrections are incorporated in the expression for non-relativistic wave breaking amplitude by Coffey.[52] The corresponding analysis is then extended in the relativistic situation by Katsoleas and Mori.[53] Both these investigations reveal that the thermal effects reduce the maximum electric field amplitude of the electrostatic waves.

### 1.3.2 Homogeneous Plasma: Consideration of Ion Motion

The nonlinearity in the homogeneous plasma system either comes from the ion motion or from the consideration of relativistic electron mass variation effect.[19, 24, 49] In majority of the previous studies the ions were considered as stationary background of positive charge.[2, 21, 49, 52, 54–56] However, for large amplitude electric field encountered in relativistic plasma wave excited behind high intense laser pulse or ultra-relativistic electron/proton, even the heavy mass plasma ion follow relativistic dynamics. So, in such situations the assumption of immobile ion background may be violated.[8, 12, 25, 28] In order to understand the effect of ion motion on the breaking amplitude of electron plasma wave in two component plasma with arbitrary mass ratio, Khachatrayan has considered the relativistic ion dynamics.[57] It has been shown that even though the ion motion affects weakly on the wave breaking field amplitude, it drastically changes the wavelength of the nonlinear plasma wave. Later, Gorbunov *et al.* have performed similar analysis with the consideration of the non-relativistic ion motion and investigated the general properties of nonlinear plasma wave in electron ion plasma.[58] In 2005, G. N. Kichigin has discussed the steady state nonlinear properties of electron plasma wave with the allowance of the ion motion.[59]

### **1.3.3** Breaking in Presence of an External Magnetic Field

The incorporation of an external magnetic field is an important issue in the studies of nonlinear plasma wave phenomena. Strong magnetic field can be generated in the plasma medium due to various reasons. In the laser matter interaction process magnetic field is produced by the hot electron current. [60] Also, circularly polarized laser radiation can induce axial magnetic field in the plasma. Magnetized plasma is encountered in various astrophysical situations, in laboratory experiments and also in the laser produced plasma systems. [61–65] Simple linear analysis shows that in presence of an external magnetic field, various modes like Alfven waves, lower and upper hybrid wave, magnetosonic wave can be excited in the plasma medium. The presence of such external magnetic field drastically modifies the nature of the nonlinear plasma wave. In the recent past, Maity *et al.* have studied the wave breaking and phase mixing process specifically for the above mentioned two hybrid modes. [46, 66, 67] Extending the analysis of wave breaking of upper hybrid mode, we have provided an analytical estimation of the breaking field amplitude of such high frequency mode in our investigation.

## 1.3.4 Wave Breaking via Phase Mixing

The solution obtained by Akheizher and Polovin represents the traveling wave for relativistically propagating electron plasma wave.[49] The wave which is excited behind a strong laser pulse or ultra-relativistic particle beam can be well-described by this type of stationary wave solution. The maximum supported electric field amplitude of such wave is limited by the wave breaking field amplitude given by  $E_{WB} = \sqrt{2(\gamma - 1)}$  [AP limit], where  $\gamma = [1 - (v_{ph}/c)^2]^{-1/2}$ . It is important to note from the expression of AP limit that as  $v_{ph} \to c$ , this implies  $E_{WB} \to \infty$ .

Almost four decades later, Infeld and Rowland have provided an exact analytical solution for relativistic longitudinal electron plasma wave in terms of Lagrangian co-ordinates. [18] They have provided an expression for the frequency of the nonlinear plasma wave which not only depends on the amplitude but also acquires a space dependency. The observed relativistic bursts is a result of such position dependent frequency. It is found that except for a choice of particular initial condition to excite the wave, the relativistic electron plasma waves always break at arbitrarily small amplitude long before it reaches to the limit imposed by Akheizher and Polovin. This has been confirmed later by the analysis of Verma et al. who have constructed traveling wave type Akeizher Polovin solution by freezing the Infeld-Rowland's exact space time dependent solution. [68] Corresponding nonrelativistic situations has also been discussed earlier by Albriton and Rowland. [69] They have commented that in the non-relativistic situation, it is possible to construct traveling wave solution from the space time dependent solution for the nonlinear cold plasma wave by choice of an appropriate initial condition. Hence, a general conclusion that comes out from these studies is that, only with the choice
of such unique initial condition one obtains a stationary wave solution. A slight deviation originating from the noise present in the system can make the wave to break at an arbitrarily small amplitude. This small amplitude breaking or nonlinear damping is nothing but a result of phase mixing.

Phase mixing is physically associated with the space dependent frequency which occurs due to presence of different types of nonlinearities originating from the inhomogeneity in the background ion density, relativistic electron mass variation, ion motion etc. When the frequency becomes position dependent, different fluid elements oscillate with different frequencies and the crossing of electron trajectories occurs leading to phase mixing. In the non-relativistic situation phase mixing of nonlinear electron plasma wave has been studied in presence of ion density cavities.[22, 70] Such cavities are frequently encountered in the auroral region excited due to ion cyclotron wave motion. Nappi *et al.* has also obtained an approximate analytical solution of the nonlinear electron plasma wave in presence of sinusoidal time stationary inhomogeneous ion density background.[71] They have estimated the phase mixing time and discussed its dependency on the amplitude of the ion density inhomogeneity. Later, Sengupta *et al.* have investigated the phase mixing of relativistically strong plasma wave in homogeneous plasma system. [19]

Incorporation of the relativistic electron mass variation in the process of this phase mixing in inhomogeneous plasma system is an important issue. A general theoretical model which allows us to investigate the effect of the nonlinearity associated with the inhomogeneity and relativity in the phase mixing process will definitely contribute to the knowledge of plasma wave breaking phenomena.

## 1.4 Stationary Wave Ansatz and Lagrangian Fluid Technique

The basic studies on nonlinear plasma dynamics deal with solving some nonlinear partial differential equations. There exists no precise general technique of solving these differential equations. One way to handle with such equations is to adopt plane wave ansatz which is used to describe stationary properties of the nonlinear plasma system. On the other hand, one can use Lagrangian fluid technique to obtain exact space time dependent solution of the problem. Our investigation of wave breaking and wave excitation have been performed by using these useful fluid techniques. Here we provide a brief introduction of these two mathematical formulations.

Stationary wave: The nonlinear stationary wave solution can be obtained by assuming every dynamical dependent variables of the problem to depend on  $\xi = x - vt$ ; a special combination of space and time. Here v is the constant velocity of a moving frame. Even though this kind of analysis does not provide any information about the exact space time evolution of the system, this method is used most often and give various insightful results for systems which are stable for long time. One of the significant advantage in this moving frame analysis is that with this coordinate transformation one can reduce the partial differential equations into a set of ordinary differential equations which are comparatively easier to handle with. 'Pseudo potential' approach is one of such methods where solution for the basic equations describing nonlinear plasma wave phenomena can be easily obtained. In this novel technique all dynamical variables viz. electron density, fluid velocity are expressed in terms of electrostatic potential and then the whole nonlinear wave dynamics is being converted to a classical mechanical problem of a fictitious single particle motion in a pseudo potential. By the comparison of the bounded and unbounded motion of that particle in the potential well, the periodic wave motion and the breaking phenomena of plasma wave can be described. In investigating wave breaking of electrostatic electron plasma wave in three component electronpositron-ion plasma we have adopted this '*Pseudo potential*' method. Also, in the study of wave breaking in magnetized plasma system as well as in the charged particle beam driven wake field excitation process, this kind of stationarity is assumed.

Lagrangian method: A generic structure of studying the dynamics of any physical system is to specify its initial state and observing how the state evolves with time. In this context the Lagrangian fluid technique is a very useful method. This powerful mathematical tool has previously been extensively employed in the description of nonlinear electron plasma waves.[3, 51, 72, 73] In contrast to the Eulerian method, here the dynamics of nonlinear plasma wave is studied by tracking the individual fluid elements.

The Lagrangian variables  $\{\xi, \tau\}$  is related to the Eulerian variables  $\{x, t\}$  by the following transformation equations:

$$\xi = x - \int_0^\tau v(\xi, \tau') d\tau' \quad , \quad \tau = t.$$
 (1.1)

With this transformation one can reduce the convective derivative term  $D \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$  into local time derivative  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}$ . This considerably simplifies the problem and makes it analytically tractable. This transformation will allow us to have a glimpse over the exact space time evolution of the nonlinear plasma dynamical situation encountered in various problems of plasma physics. Specifically, to study wave breaking by phase mixing this transformation is very useful. In this physical process the information about the initial condition from which the system evolves is an important issue. This formulation not only allows us to investigate the spatiotemporal evolution of the nonlinear plasma wave dynamics but also provides the knowledge of its initial state. A more detailed discussion on Lagrangian method can be found in the textbook of Davidson.[3]

#### 1.5 Motivation

In the electron or proton beam driven wake field excitation process, the necessity of an external magnetic field is manifold. The magnetic field not only helps to reduce the beam charge loss but also helps the beam charge to couple efficiently with the excited plasma wave. Also, in the production of quasi mono-energetic high energy charged particle, it plays a significant role. It is quite obvious that in presence of such magnetic field, the electric field structure of the wake wave will modify from its unmagnetized profile. This will greatly influence on the overall energy efficiency in the acceleration process. The effect of such magnetic field has still not been discussed elaborately in the context of particle acceleration by the strong plasma wave. Therefore, a detailed study of wake wave excitation in presence of an external magnetic field will definitely make a significant contribution in the development of the production of high energy charged particle by plasma wave.

Furthermore, wave breaking of different nonlinear plasma modes has been studied quite extensively over the decades mostly in two component electron-ion plasma systems. However, it is not very easy and straightforward to extend the analysis of wave breaking in three component plasma systems like electron-positron-ion plasmas. During the last few years, there has been considerable interest on the studies of nonlinear wave phenomena in EPI plasmas [74–79]. EPI plasmas are found in various astrophysical environments, including early Universe [80], pulsar magnetosphere [81] etc. Such plasmas have also been produced in high intensity laser-matter interaction in laboratory [2]. So it is of particular interest to investigate wave breaking in such plasma systems. But consideration of the complex collective dynamics of three species in the wave propagation makes the problem difficult to investigate analytically. Also, as obvious from the previous discussion, it is needed to incorporate the relativistic dynamics of all the three species. Nevertheless, one way to study wave breaking in such plasma systems is to adopt stationary wave ansatz. Even if this method do not provide any information of the exact space time evolution, it enables us to estimate the breaking field amplitude of electron plasma waves in such plasma systems.

As mentioned earlier phase mixing is one of the strong potential mechanism by which the plasma wave breaks. This phase mixing occurs mainly due to nonlinearities associated with the relativistic mass variation of electron or because of the existing inhomogeneity in the background ion density. In most of the earlier investigations, the studies on wave breaking in inhomogeneous plasma system have been performed in the non-relativistic situations only. It is interesting to see how the physics of phase mixing modifies when these two nonlinear effects act together on the wave dynamics.

#### 1.6 Outline of the thesis

A brief outline of the thesis is described below:

In chapter-II, a theoretical investigation has been performed to discuss the effect of an external magnetic field on the stationary wake field structures of nonlinear relativistic electron beam driven plasma system. Experimentally realizable different shapes of the driving electron beam (Rectangular and Gaussian) have been considered for the excitation of plasma wake wave. The significance of this studies are discussed in the laboratory context of particle acceleration or in the study of generation of ultrahigh accelerating charged particle by strong plasma wave in astrophysical situations.

We have also extended our analysis to describe the physics of proton driven plasma wake field accelerator (PDPWFA) by constructing a travelling wave solution of the problem. The wake field excitation by single long proton beam as well as a train of equidistant proton micro-bunches produced due to self modulational instability has been discussed. Also, considering the necessity of the external magnetic field to control over the focusing characteristics of the beam and also to reduce the diffraction of beam head, studies on the effect of magnetic field on the wake field structures have been performed.

In **chapter-III**, the maximum permissible amplitude of the electric field has been derived for the relativistic electrostatic electron plasma wave in three component electron-positron-ion (EPI) plasmas incorporating the relativistic dynamics of all the three plasma species. We have adopted Pseudo potential technique to discuss the breaking phenomena in such plasma system. The dependence of the wave breaking amplitude on the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with the phase velocity of the plasma wave, on the electron/positron to ion mass ratio, and on the ratio of equilibrium ion density to equilibrium electron/positron density has been discussed elaborately.

In chapter-IV, we have provided a theoretical investigation on the stationary wave solution for the nonlinear relativistic upper hybrid wave. The wave breaking field amplitude of such waves has been derived. Furthermore, we seek the initial condition that should be chosen properly to freeze the exact space time dependent solution into stable stationary type solution.

In chapter-V, the wave breaking via phase mixing has been studied for the non-relativistic electron plasma wave in presence of ion density inhomogeneity. An exact spatio-temporal solution in terms of Lagrangian variables has been derived. Also, an approximate homotopy perturbative solution has been obtained in order to give an analytical expression for the phase mixing time.

We have extended our analysis on phase mixing in chapter-VI to incorporate the relativistic electron mass variation effect along with the background ion density inhomogeneity. These two types of nonlinearities acting together speed up the process of phase mixing which is reflected in the expression of phase mixing time as obtained in our theoretical study.

The theoretical investigation made in the thesis is not meant to understand very complicated studies of wave breaking research. Rather, it deals with very simple problems to explore the essential features of wave breaking and phase mixing process in magnetized and unmagnetized plasma systems. For the researchers embarking in the field of plasma wave breaking, phase mixing and also in the branch of plasma based particle accelerator physics, this thesis can be a starting point.

## Chapter 2 Charged Particle Beam driven Plasma Wakefield Excitation

A theoretical study has been performed to find the stationary wave solution for the relativistically propagating electron as well as proton beam driven cold magnetized plasma system. The effect of the magnetic field on the transformer ratio (the ratio of energy gain to the drive beam energy) has been discussed independently for both these schemes. Also the effect of ion motion and different beam shapes on the wake field structures are analyzed in the electron beam driver case. Consideration of both single long proton beam and micron sized train of small particle bunches to excite the plasma wake wave have been incorporated in our investigation.

#### 2.1 Introduction

As discussed in the introductory section there are basically two different charged particle beam driven wake field excitation schemes. One is to use relativistically propagating electron beam and the other is proton beam driven plasma wake field accelerator (PDPWFA). Here we report the excitation mechanism of wake field behind a relativistic, specially shaped electron beam (rectangular or Gaussian) [25] passing through a magnetized plasma system. Also, the effects of magnetic field and variation of peak beam density on the transformer ratio are discussed elaborately. Analytical work of Rosenzweig discusses the generation of wake wave behind a rectangular electron pulse.[30] He obtained an analytical expression of transformer ratio (R) i.e. the ratio of the maximum energy gain of accelerated particles to the initial energy of driving particles for the unmagnetized beam driven plasma. Extending his analysis to magnetized plasma system, we get some significant results which can influence on improving the efficiency of the particle acceleration.

Electron beam driven wake field accelerator is not very suitable for accelerating charged particle in the TeV energy range. A newly introduced scheme which uses proton beam to excite plasma wake field enables us to reach this energy range in a single plasma stage with high efficiency. There exists a lot of numerical and experimental works performed recently to understand the basic physics of PDPWFA.[38–40, 43, 45] However, a well defined theoretical model to describe such phenomena has still not been witnessed till date. In this chapter, such an attempt has been made where incorporating the proton beam density in the Poisson equation, the basic fluid Maxwell's equation have been solved and the results are discussed.

#### 2.2 Nonlinear solution for charged particle beam driven wake in magnetized plasma

The basic equations describing the wake wave generation in the electron/proton beam driven cold magnetized plasma are the following fluid Maxwell equations:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{p} = -eE - e\beta_{\mathbf{e}} \times \mathbf{B}.$$
(2.1)

$$\nabla \mathbf{E} = 4\pi e(n_0 - n + qn_b). \tag{2.2}$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}.$$
(2.3)

$$\nabla \mathbf{B} = 0. \tag{2.4}$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = 4\pi e (-n\beta_{\mathbf{e}} + qn_b\beta_{\mathbf{b}}) + \frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t},$$
(2.5)

where,  $\beta_{\mathbf{e}}$  and  $\beta_{\mathbf{b}}$  are respectively the electron fluid velocity  $(v_e)$  and beam velocity  $(v_b)$ , both normalized by free space light speed c. The symbol 'q' takes negative sign for electron beam and positive sign for proton beam; e being the value of electronic charge. The electric field is  $\mathbf{E} = E\hat{e}_x$ , where  $\hat{e}_x$  is the unit vector along the x axis. The external magnetic field is  $\mathbf{B} = B_0\hat{e}_z$ , where  $\hat{e}_z$  is the unit vector along the z axis. Other variables have their usual meanings. Here, for the purpose of simplicity in analysis, the heavier mass ions are assumed to be static in the time scale of the electron dynamics.



Figure 2.1: Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field in electron beam driven plasma[ $\beta_{ph} = 1$ ,  $\beta_b = 1$ ], with beam density [ $\alpha = 0.5$  for  $0 \leq \zeta \leq 5.6\pi$  and zero otherwise],  $1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0$ ,  $2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.2$ ,  $3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5$ ,  $4 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7$ .

In search for a travelling wave solution of Eqs. (2.1)-(2.5), it is convenient to introduce a variable transformation  $\zeta = \frac{\omega_{pe}}{v_{ph}}(x - v_{ph}t)$ , where  $\omega_{pe} = \sqrt{4\pi n_0 e^2/m}$ with  $n_0$  being the equilibrium electron density and  $v_{ph}$  is the phase velocity of the plane wave. In the newly introduced coordinate system two momentum equations take the form:

$$\frac{dp_x}{d\zeta} = \beta_{ph} \frac{E\sqrt{1+p^2} + \Omega p_y}{\beta_{ph}\sqrt{1+p^2} - p_x},\tag{2.6}$$

$$\frac{dp_y}{d\zeta} = -\Omega\beta_{ph}\frac{p_x}{\beta_{ph}\sqrt{1+p^2}-p_x}.$$
(2.7)

Combination of Eq.(2.2) and Eq.(2.5), gives us the electric field evolution equation:

$$\frac{dE}{d\zeta} = -\beta_{ph} \frac{(1-q\alpha)p_x - q\alpha\beta_b\sqrt{1+p^2}}{\beta_{ph}\sqrt{1+p^2} - p_x}.$$
(2.8)



Figure 2.2: Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without magnetic field in electron beam driven plasma  $[\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1]$ , with beam density  $[\alpha = 0.5 \text{ for } 0 \leq \zeta \leq 5.6\pi \text{ and zero otherwise}], 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.2, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 4 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7.$ 

Here,  $\alpha = n_b/n_0$  is the normalized electron/proton beam density and  $\Omega = \omega_c/\omega_{pe}$ with  $\omega_c = eB_0/mc$  being the electron cyclotron frequency. The normalized variables we have used are  $E \to eE/(m\omega_{pe}c)$ ,  $p_x \to p_x/mc$ ,  $p_y \to p_y/mc$ ,  $n \to n/n_0$ and  $\beta_{ph} = v_{ph}/c$ . Also, we defined  $p_x^2 + p_y^2 = p^2$ . From the electron continuity equation it is easy to show that

$$n = \beta_{ph} \frac{\sqrt{1+p^2}}{\beta_{ph}\sqrt{1+p^2} - p_x}.$$
(2.9)

It is not an easy task to find an exact solution for the above coupled nonlinear Eqs.(2.6)-(2.8) analytically. Therefore, we have solved these differential equations by  $4^{th}$  order Runge-Kutta method and obtained the solutions for the wake wave electric field, electron density etc. separately for the electron driver and proton driver scheme. Since these waves are encountered in the high energy physics accelerator, we have assumed the electron beam velocity as well as the phase velocity of the wake wave to take free space light velocity.

Electron beam driver scheme: In the electron beam driver case, first we



Figure 2.3: Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma  $[A_0 = 0.5, \zeta_c = 6, \sigma_x = 1.0]$  and  $\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1; 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.4, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7.$ 

have considered rectangular profile of the drive beam with the following longitudinal variation of its density:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= \alpha_0 \text{ for } 0 \leqslant \zeta \leqslant l_b, \\ &= 0, \text{otherwise}; \end{aligned}$$
(2.10)

i.e. the bunch is flat over the full beam length  $l_b$  with  $\alpha_0$  being a constant quantity.

Fig.(2.1) and Fig.(2.2) show the stationary electric field and perturbed density profiles for different strengths of the applied magnetic fields as obtained from our numerical investigation. In obtaining these results the electron beam density are taken to be half of the equilibrium plasma density ( $\alpha_0 = 0.5$ ). The sawtooth like structures of electric field and electron density spikes are observed in case of zero magnetic field limit. These results have indeed a clear resemblance to the analytical solution for the wake wave profiles excited by rectangular electron pulse in the absence of any external magnetic field.[30] In this paper, Rosenzweig has provided an exact analytical expression in 1D for the wake wave electric field excited by an



Figure 2.4: Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without magnetic field in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma  $[A_0 = 0.5, \zeta_c = 6, \sigma_x = 1.0]$  and  $\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1; 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.4, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.7.$ 

ultra-relativistic rectangular shaped electron beam in the unmagnetized plasma systems. Later, similar kind of analysis has been performed by Bera *et al.* who have obtained space time dependent solution of relativistic electron beam driven wake field in a cold, homogeneous plasma using 1D-fluid simulation techniques.[12] Presence of an external magnetic field has an effect to change the nature of these stationary structures. It is evident from these figures that in presence of the magnetic field the electric field behind the pulse gradually loses its sawtooth like shape and becomes sinusoidal with the increasing strength of magnetic field. Consequently, the peak amplitude of the perturbed density is also observed to decrease. It is to be noted here that the external magnetic field also affects the transformer ratio (R) which is defined to be the ratio of maximum accelerating electric field behind the beam and the maximum decelerating field inside the beam. With the increasing strength of magnetic field the transformer ratio gradually decreases. So, despite the fact that externally applied magnetic field can help to avoid phase slippage between the driven electrons and the plasma wave, it reduces the transformer ratio of charged particle acceleration.

Our numerical simulation process is then extended to show the stationary structures of the relativistic magnetized wake wave with a Gaussian electron beam density profile described by,

$$\alpha = A_0 \exp\{-(\zeta - \zeta_c)^2 / \sigma_x^2\}.$$
(2.11)

where  $A_0$ ,  $\zeta_c$  and  $\sigma_x^2$  are the amplitude, expectation value and variance of the distribution function respectively.

It is observed in Fig.(2.3) and Fig.(2.4) that with this Gaussian beam profile the electric field behind the beam are sinusoidal and perturbed density spikes are not very high for the slightly nonlinear case ( $A_0 = 0.5$ ). In contrast to these results, the steepening of the electric field and occurrence of high density spikes can be seen in Fig.(2.5) and Fig.(2.6) for the highly nonlinear situation ( $A_0 = 2.0$ ). However, for both the rectangular and Gaussian beam density profile the maximum amplitude of the electric field behind the pulse get reduced with the increase of the strength of the external magnetic field.

**Proton beam driver scheme:** We have also discussed the effect of an external magnetic field on the wake field structures of proton beam driven acceleration process. The drive beam profile has similar rectangular profile as considered in the electron driver case [Eq. (2.10)]. The stationary electric field and perturbed density profiles for different strengths of the applied magnetic fields are shown respectively in Fig.(2.7) and Fig.(2.8). In contrast to the electron beam driver case, here we see that with the increase in the magnetic field strength the maximum electric field behind the pulse gradually increases.



Figure 2.5: Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma  $[A_0 = 2.0, \zeta_c = 6, \sigma_z = 1.0]$  and  $\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1; 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9.$ 

# 2.3 Effect of ion motion on electron/proton beam driven wake-field acceleration

Investigations of ultra-relativistic charged particle beam driven wake wave excitation process are normally performed with the assumption of stationary ion background. This assumption might be violated. In the generation process of plasma waves, due to their heavier mass the ions carry the main part of the momentum of the source (electron/proton beam). In the strong field excited behind electron or proton beam, the plasma ions can reach a velocity which is sufficient to make a contribution in the process of charge separation and thereby this can significantly influence the wake field structures.[57, 58] Thus, in our investigations we have included the plasma ion motion as well.

It has been speculated earlier that inclusion of ion motion could have some effects on the particle acceleration process in unmagnetized plasma.[11] In order to show its effect, it is convenient to adopt pseudo-potential approach to solve



Figure 2.6: Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without magnetic field in a Gaussian shaped electron beam driven plasma  $[A_0 = 2.0, \zeta_c = 6, \sigma_z = 1.0]$  and  $\beta_{ph} = 1, \beta_b = 1; 1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9.$ 

the problem.[82] In this method we express each of the dynamical variables of the system viz. species velocities, densities as function of electrostatic potential ( $\varphi$ ) and then obtain a second order differential equation for  $\varphi$ .

When we include ion motion with an electron/proton beam passing through the unmagnetized plasma, the basic equations describing the system are: The relativistic electron or ion momentum equations,

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)(\gamma_j v_j) = \frac{q_j E}{m_j},\tag{2.12}$$

the continuity equations for electron, and ion fluids

$$\frac{\partial n_j}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x}(v_j n_j) = 0, \qquad (2.13)$$

and the Poissons equation

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial x} = 4\pi \left[ \sum_{j} q_{j} n_{j} - q e n_{b} \right], \qquad (2.14)$$



Figure 2.7: Variation of normalized electric field with and without magnetic field in proton beam driven plasma [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ ,  $\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with beam density [ $\alpha = 0.5$  for  $0 \leq \zeta \leq 5.6\pi$  and zero otherwise],  $1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5, 3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9$ .



Figure 2.8: Variation of normalized perturbed electron density with and without magnetic field in proton beam driven plasma [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ ,  $\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with beam density [ $\alpha = 0.5$  for  $0 \le \zeta \le 5.6\pi$  and zero otherwise],  $1 \rightarrow \Omega = 0, 2 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.5$ ,  $3 \rightarrow \Omega = 0.9$ .

where  $n_j$ ,  $v_j$ ,  $q_j$ , and  $m_j$  are the densities, velocities, charges, and masses of either electrons or ions, respectively, with  $q_j = -e$  for electrons,  $q_j = e$  for ions. Indeed, 'j' indicates the species index, with the signs -, and *i* refer to electrons, and ions, respectively. Here  $\gamma_j = [1 - (v_j/c)^2)]^{-1/2}$  are the relativistic Lorentz factors associated with different species motions. For the purpose of simplicity in analysis, we have considered the motion of the plasma ion to follow non-relativistic dynamics so that  $\gamma_i$  is taken to be unity. Here  $n_b$  is the electron beam density.



Figure 2.9: Stationary solution for electric field and potential in electron beam driven plasma with non-relativistic ion motion (dashed lines) and for static ions(continuous lines).

The wave electric field is along the x direction, i.e.,  $\mathbf{E} = E\hat{e}_x$ ;  $\hat{e}_x$  is the unit vector along the x axis.



Figure 2.10: Variation of normalized electric field in a proton beam driven plasma  $[\beta_{ph} = 0.995, \beta_b = 0.995]$ , with beam density  $[\alpha = 0.5 \text{ for } 0 \le \zeta \le 5.6\pi \text{ and zero otherwise}]$ .

A travelling wave solution of Eqs.(2.12)-(2.14) can be obtained by introducing a variable defined as  $\zeta = k_p(x - v_{ph}t)$ , where  $k_p = \omega_p/v_{ph}$  with  $\omega_p = \sqrt{4\pi n_{0-}e^2/m_-}$ ;  $n_{0-}$  is the equilibrium density of electrons and  $v_{ph}$  is the phase velocity of the plane wave. We have also defined  $\beta_- = v_-/c$  and  $\beta_i = v_i/c$  as dimensionless velocities.



Figure 2.11: Variation of normalized perturbed electron density in a proton beam driven plasma [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ ,  $\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with beam density [ $\alpha = 0.5$  for  $0 \le \zeta \le 5.6\pi$  and zero otherwise].

Therefore,  $\gamma_- = (1 - \beta_-^2)^{-1/2}$  and  $\gamma_i = (1 - \beta_i^2)^{-1/2}$ . And,  $m_-/m_i = \mu$  is the electron to ion mass ratio.

Following the methods as described by Karmakar et al.[82], the electron and ion densities normalized by their respective equilibrium values, can be expressed as,

$$N_e = \beta_{ph} \gamma^2 \left[ \frac{\varphi_e}{(\varphi_e^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}} - \beta_{ph} \right], \qquad (2.15)$$

$$N_i = \frac{\beta_{ph}}{\sqrt{\beta_{ph}^2 + 2\varphi_i}},\tag{2.16}$$

where  $\varphi_i = -\mu\varphi$  and  $\varphi_e = 1 + \varphi$  and  $\gamma = [1 - (v_{ph}/c)^2)]^{-1/2}$  is the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with phase velocity of the plasma wave. Using these expression for species densities, from the Poisson's equation, we obtain a second order differential equation for  $\varphi$  as,

$$\frac{d^2\varphi}{d\zeta^2} = -\frac{\beta_{ph}^3}{\sqrt{\beta_{ph}^2 + 2\varphi_i}} + \frac{\beta_{ph}^3 \gamma^2 \varphi_e}{\sqrt{\varphi_e^2 - \gamma^{-2}}} - \beta_{ph}^4 \gamma^2 + q\alpha \beta_{ph}^2,$$

where,  $\alpha = n_b/n_0$  is the normalized electron/proton beam density. We solve this second order differential equation numerically assuming a rectangular beam profile whose longitudinal extension is same as in the earlier simulation process for the magnetized case [Eq. (2.10)].

In case of electron driver, the solution for the electrostatic potential as well as the electric field is shown in the Fig.(2.9). There is no significant change that can be observed from this figure with the inclusion of the non-relativistic ion motion. So the assumption of static ion background in obtaining the relevant results for both the magnetized and unmagnetized beam plasma cases is quite justified.

Next, we have discussed the wake field excitation by using proton beam incorporating plasma ion dynamics. The solution for the wake field excited inside and behind the single proton bunch as well as corresponding perturbed electron density have been shown in the Fig. (2.10) and Fig. (2.11). The transformer ratio (R) which determines the overall energy efficiency of the accelerated particles can be calculated from this field profile.

#### 2.4 Wake field excitation by trains of proton bunches

Due to self modulational instability, the long proton bunch can be split into long chain of equi-spaced micro-bunches. It is of fundamental interest to see how strong wake field can be excited behind this multi-beams.

The electric field structure and corresponding perturbed electron density profile for the excited wake field by the train of equidistant rectangular particle bunches with peak beam density  $0.5n_0$  have been shown in Fig. (2.12) and Fig. (2.13)



Figure 2.12: Variation of normalized electric field in absence of magnetic field driven by a train of equidistant proton micro-bunches [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ ,  $\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with peak beam density  $\alpha_0 = 0.5$ .



Figure 2.13: Variation of normalized perturbed electron density in absence of magnetic field driven by a train of equidistant proton micro-bunches [ $\beta_{ph} = 0.995$ ],  $\beta_b = 0.995$ ], with peak beam density  $\alpha = 0.5$ .

respectively as obtained by solving Eqs.(2.12)-(2.14). From the Fig. (2.12), it is observed that electric field amplitude can not grow indefinitely with the increase of the number of beams. Rather, the field saturates due to the amplitude dependent frequency as given in the one dimensional analytical solution reported by Akheizher and Polovin viz.[49]

$$\tau \simeq \tau_0 \left[ 1 + \frac{3}{16} (E_m/E_0)^2 \right],$$
(2.17)

where,  $E_m$  and  $E_0$  are respectively the maximum field amplitude and non-relativistic wave breaking limit.  $\tau_0$  is the wave period in absence of nonlinearity. The wave period ( $\tau$ ) is seen to increase with the maximum field amplitude. This change in wavelength can cause the bunches to fall under the decelerating field and thereby the field stops growing further.

#### 2.5 Summary

We have shown that an external magnetic field plays a significant role in accelerating charged particle by plasma wake wave excited by electron as well as proton beam. The numerical simulation for the upper hybrid plasma wake wave has been performed to show the stationary electric field profiles which enables us to find the transformer ratio in presence of an external magnetic field. It has been established that, even though the magnetic field plays a crucial role in controlling the dephasing length, the transformer ratio which determines the overall energy gain of the accelerated particle is being reduced with the increase of the strength of magnetic field in the electron driver scheme. The external magnetic field confines trailing witness beam charge to the wavefront of the wake wave and controls its focusing nature. Thereby it helps to produce a highly collimated and quasi mono-energetic final accelerated beam. Effects of electron beam shape and density on the stationary structures of plasma variables are also shown to be of particular relevance in the particle acceleration process. It has been shown that consideration of non-relativistic ion motion does not affect much on the stationary structures of wake-wave electric field.

Consideration of both single long proton beam or micron sized train of small

particle bunches to excite the plasma wake wave have been incorporated in our studies. Recently, K. V. Lotov has performed a numerical investigation on the two dimensional plasma wake field excitation process by trains of equidistant particle bunches which has been the motivation behind the use of such beam train in our theoretical analysis.[40] This analytical solution can facilitate the understanding of the underlying physical mechanisms in the production of high energy charged particles in laboratory experiment on PDPWFA. Particularly, it will certainly contribute to the theoretical knowledge of the ongoing "AWAKE [Advanced Proton Driven Plasma Wakefield Acceleration Experiment] project.[38, 83]

Admittedly, we have not considered the evolution of the beam (rigid beam case) throughout our calculations. Our whole analysis of wake field excitation has been carried out in the limit of  $\beta_b \rightarrow 1$ . In this limit, the beam behaves like a rigid charged rod, as has been shown by Bera et al.[12] by studying the space time evolution of a beam plasma system (relevant to PWFA) using fluid simulation techniques. Specifically, they have shown that as long as  $\beta_b > 0.99$ , the beam does not evolve within the time frame of interest. Our analysis of plasma wake field excitation in the limit of  $\beta_b \rightarrow 1$  is further justified by the fact that the present day PWFA experiments use beam energies in the range of 20 ~ 40 Gev,[29, 44] which amounts to a value  $\beta_b \rightarrow 1$ . Thus our results are relevant to present day PWFA experiments.

### Chapter 3

## Relativistic wave-breaking limit of electrostatic waves in cold electron-positron-ion plasmas

A one-dimensional nonlinear propagation of relativistically strong electrostatic waves in cold electron-positron-ion (EPI) plasmas has been analyzed. The motion of all the three species, namely, electron, positron, and ion has been treated to be relativistic. The maximum permissible electric field amplitude - so called "wave-breaking limit" of such an electrostatic wave before wave-breaking has been derived, showing its dependence on the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with the phase velocity of the plasma wave, on the electron/positron to ion mass ratio, and on the ratio of equilibrium ion density to equilibrium electron/positron density.

#### 3.1 Introduction

Studies on "wave-breaking" [3, 21, 51] of nonlinear oscillations and/or waves in plasmas have been an active area of research in nonlinear plasma theory over the past years owing to its number of potential applications like plasma heating [84], particle acceleration by wake-fields [85, 86], etc.

As mentioned earlier, it is not possible to have a *coherent* wave motion in plasmas with an amplitude greater than its critical amplitude. The value of the critical amplitude may be physically different in the cold-nonrelativistic[21] or cold-relativistic[49] or warm-nonrelativistic[52] or warm-relativistic [53] plasma situations. Relativistic effects have been found to increase the critical amplitudes, whereas, thermal effects decrease the critical amplitudes. The critical amplitude beyond which a plasma wave breaks is well-known as the "wave-breaking amplitude". Over the past decades, much theoretical progress has been made on the understandings of the wave-breaking amplitudes for electron plasma waves in electron-ion plasmas.[2, 21, 49, 52–56, 87] Understanding the wave-breaking amplitude and corresponding electric field threshold (the maximum coherent electric field which a plasma can consistently sustain) is important for the plasma-based particle acceleration schemes.[4, 11] Because the wave-breaking amplitude is as one of the critical parameters that determines the maximum energy gain of the accelerated particles.[88]

In the recent years, there has been much discussion of wave-breaking of relativistically strong electron plasma waves regarding particle acceleration to high energies.[8, 9, 89, 90] A wave of sufficiently large amplitude is generally said to be relativistically strong if it can induce, at least, relativistic motions of lighter plasma species. In this regard, the ratio of quiver velocity of electrons (say) to the velocity of light in vacuum can become comparable to unity, i.e.,  $v \sim c$ . Thus the longitudinal electric fields associated with such waves can be extremely large, i.e.,  $eE/(m_e\omega c) \sim 1$ , where e is the charge of an electron, E is the electric field of the wave,  $m_e$  is the mass of an electron, and  $\omega$  is the frequency of wave. The energy gain by an electron over a wave period could be made comparable to its rest mass energy while it is trapped within and in phase with such a plasma wave.

The investigation on maximum electric field of a relativistically strong electron plasma wave in cold electron-ion (EI) plasmas was first done by Akhiezer and Polovin (AP), where massive ions were assumed to form a fixed charge neutralizing background.[49] Surprisingly, in their classic paper, AP derived the corresponding wave-breaking limit as  $eE_{\max}/m_e\omega_p v_{ph} = \sqrt{2(\gamma-1)}/\beta$ , even without mentioning "wave-breaking", where  $\omega_p$  is the electron plasma frequency,  $v_{ph}$  is the phase velocity of the plasma wave, and  $\gamma$  is the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with the phase velocity of the plasma wave, i.e.,  $\gamma = (1 - \beta^2)^{-1/2}$  with  $\beta = v_{ph}/c$ . A few researchers then extended the analysis of AP by taking into account the ion motion, and thus they reported the wave-breaking amplitudes of relativistic oscillations in arbitrary mass ratio two component cold plasmas [57, 58] In the context of plasma wave generation in the wakes of laser pulses or an electron beam, it was subsequently shown that ion being the more massive candidate compared to the other species they can carry the main part of the momentum transferred by the laser pulse. [58] Besides, we find from their work that the wave-breaking limit increases with the increase of the electron to ion mass ratio, and thus an equal mass electron-positron (EP) plasma can support higher amplitude relativistically strong coherent electrostatic waves compared to an electron-ion plasma.

In this chapter, we investigate the wave-breaking amplitude of one-dimensional relativistically strong electrostatic waves in cold unmagnetized electron-positronion (EPI) plasmas. In addition to oppositely charged and same mass species electrons and positrons, EPI plasmas contain a fraction of massive ions with an overall charge neutrality in equilibrium states. The present work is a generalized model where the system is a three component electron-positron-ion (EPI) plasma in which the dynamics of all the three species are taken to be relativistic.

#### 3.2 Determination of the wave-breaking amplitude

We consider a cold unmagnetized electron-positron-ion (EPI) plasma having an overall charge neutrality in its equilibrium state, i.e.,  $n_{0-} = n_{0+} + n_{0i}$ , where  $n_{0-}$ ,  $n_{0+}$ , and  $n_{0i}$  are the equilibrium densities of electrons, positrons, and ions, respectively. Massive ions will be allowed to take part in the relativistically strong high frequency wave dynamics in such a multi-species plasma. And, the motion of all the three species, namely, electron, positron, and ion will also be taken to be relativistic. In one space-dimension, the basic equations that describe the nonlinear propagation of relativistically strong electrostatic waves in cold EPI plasmas are the continuity equations for electron, positron, and ion fluids

$$\frac{\partial n_j}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x}(v_j n_j) = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$

the momentum equations for electron, positron, and ion fluids

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)(\gamma_j v_j) = \frac{q_j E}{m_j},\tag{3.2}$$

and the Poissons equation

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial x} = 4\pi \sum_{j} q_j n_j,\tag{3.3}$$

where  $n_j$ ,  $v_j$ ,  $\gamma_j$ ,  $q_j$ , and  $m_j$  are the densities, velocities, relativistic Lorentz factors, charges, and masses of either electrons or positrons or ions, respectively, with  $q_j = -e$  for electrons,  $q_j = e$  for both positrons and ions. Indeed, 'j' indicates the species index, with the signs -, +, and i refer to electrons, positrons, and ions, respectively. The wave electric field is along the x direction, i.e.,  $E = E\hat{e}_x$ ;  $\hat{e}_x$  is the unit vector along the x axis.

Looking for a travelling wave solution of Eqs. (3.1)-(3.3), it is convenient to introduce a variable transformation  $\xi = k_p(x - v_{ph}t)$ , where  $k_p = \omega_p/v_{ph}$  with  $\omega_p = \sqrt{4\pi n_{0-}e^2/m_-}$ ;  $n_{0-}$  is the equilibrium density of electrons and  $v_{ph}$  is the phase velocity of the plane wave. We also define  $\beta_{\pm} = v_{\pm}/c$  and  $\beta_i = v_i/c$  as dimensionless velocities. Therefore,  $\gamma_{\pm} = (1 - \beta_{\pm}^2)^{-1/2}$ ,  $\gamma_i = (1 - \beta_i^2)^{-1/2}$  and,  $m_-/m_i = \mu$  is the electron to ion mass ratio.

In the transformed co-ordinate system the continuity and momentum equations, respectively, take the form as

$$\frac{d}{d\xi}[n_j(\beta - \beta_j)] = 0, \qquad (3.4)$$

and

$$(\beta - \beta_j) \frac{d}{d\xi} (\beta_j \gamma_j) = \varepsilon_j \beta^2 E, \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $\beta = v_{ph}/c$ , and  $\varepsilon_j$  is a constant;  $\varepsilon_- = 1$  for electron,  $\varepsilon_+ = -1$  for positron, and  $\varepsilon_i = -\mu$  for ion. Here  $\gamma_j = [1 - (v_j/c)^2)]^{-1/2}$  are the relativistic Lorentz factors associated with different species motions. Now using the quasi-neutrality condition at the equilibrium, viz.,  $n_{0-} = n_{0+} + n_{0i}$  and normalizing the species densities by their respective equilibrium values, i.e.,  $N_j \rightarrow n_j/n_{0j}$ , the Poisson's equation in the new variable  $\xi$  becomes

$$\frac{dE}{d\xi} = \alpha N_i - N_- + (1 - \alpha)N_+, \qquad (3.6)$$

where  $\alpha = n_{0i}/n_{0-}$ , and the electric field is normalized on the non-relativistic wave-breaking field  $m_{-}\omega_{p}v_{ph}/e$  and obeys  $E(\xi) = -(1/\beta^{2})(d\varphi/d\xi)$ , where the rescaled potential,  $\varphi = \varphi_{0} + (e\Phi/m_{-}c^{2})$  with  $\Phi$  denoting the unnormalized electric potential. Here  $\varphi_{0}$  is a constant potential in the unperturbed plasma state where the whole plasma is neutral and all the three species are at rest. Physically, electrons, positrons, and ions stop at the same point where the potential of the plasma wave is equal to this constant potential  $\varphi_{0}$ . Without much loss of generality, one may set  $\varphi_{0} = 1$ , and henceforth,  $\varphi = 1 + (e\Phi/m_{-}c^{2})$ . It should further be mentioned here that the unnormalized electric potential  $\Phi$  has been assumed to be equal to zero when the plasma density is equal to the equilibrium density.

Now carrying out some simple algebra, we obtain from Eqs. (3.4)-(3.6) the normalized velocities and densities of the three species as

$$\beta_j = \frac{\beta - \varphi_j (\varphi_j^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}}{\beta^2 + \varphi_j^2},$$
(3.7)

and

$$N_j = \beta \gamma^2 \left[ \frac{\varphi_j}{(\varphi_j^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}} - \beta \right], \qquad (3.8)$$

respectively, where  $\varphi_{-} \equiv \varphi$ ,  $\varphi_{+} = 2 - \varphi$ , and  $\varphi_{i} = 1 + \mu(1 - \varphi)$ . Here  $\gamma = [1 - (v_{ph}/c)^{2})]^{-1/2}$  is the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with the phase velocity of the plasma wave. It is to be noted here that  $\varphi$  is the potential of the plasma

waves in the perturbed state, and  $\varphi_+$  and  $\varphi_i$  are the new variables introduced which are related to  $\varphi$ . Furthermore, we note that, at the equilibrium state, each of  $\varphi_j$  takes the same value  $\varphi_0$ .

Substituting the values of  $N_j$  in Eq. (3.6) followed by using  $E(\xi) = -(1/\beta^2)(d\varphi/d\xi)$ , we obtain the following second order differential equation for  $\varphi$  as

$$\frac{d^2\varphi}{d\xi^2} + \alpha\beta^3\gamma^2 \left[\frac{\varphi_i}{(\varphi_i^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}} - \frac{\varphi_+}{(\varphi_+^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}}\right] + \beta^3\gamma^2 \left[\frac{\varphi_+}{(\varphi_+^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}} - \frac{\varphi}{(\varphi^2 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}}\right] = 0.$$
(3.9)

In the general regime  $\varphi_j^2 > \gamma^{-2}$ , Eq. (3.9) is solved numerically, and a typical wave form solution is depicted in Fig. (3.1) for different values of  $\alpha$  with  $\mu =$ 1/1836 and  $\gamma = 10$ . From the figure it is evident that the wavelength of the plasma wave increases with the the ratio of equilibrium ion density to equilibrium electron/positron density  $\alpha$ .



Figure 3.1: Normalized electrostatic potential of the plasma wave  $\varphi$  vs.  $\xi$  obtained by numerical solving of the potential equation for different values of  $\alpha$  with  $\mu = 1/1836$  and  $\gamma = 10$ .

Now we re-write Eq. (3.9) in the following form:

$$\frac{d^2\varphi}{d\xi^2} + \frac{dU}{d\varphi} = 0, \qquad (3.10)$$

where

$$U = \beta^{3} \gamma^{2} \left[ -\frac{\alpha}{\mu} (\varphi_{i}^{2} - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2} + (\alpha - 1)(\varphi_{+}^{2} - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2} \right] + \beta^{3} \gamma^{2} \left[ \left( \frac{\alpha}{\mu} - \alpha + 2 \right) (1 - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2} - (\varphi^{2} - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2} \right].$$
(3.11)

Here  $U(\varphi)$  is chosen to be equal to zero at a point  $\varphi = 1$  where it reaches a minimum. The Eq. (3.10) describes the one dimensional motion of a particle in a field with potential  $U(\varphi)$ ; the values  $\varphi$  and E correspond to the coordinate and velocity of this fictitious particle of unit mass, respectively.

Next, from Eq. (3.10) we obtain the first integral of motion as

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{d\varphi}{d\xi}\right)^2 + U(\varphi) = I, \qquad (3.12)$$

which can be re-written as

$$\frac{d\varphi}{d\xi} = \pm \sqrt{2(I-U)},\tag{3.13}$$

where I is an integration constant and can be identified as the total energy of the fictitious particle having unit mass. The first term on the left hand side of Eq. (3.12) signifies the kinetic energy and the second term is the potential energy.

In order to have a periodic solution of the nonlinear plasma waves, the potential  $U(\varphi)$  should have to be real restricting the allowed value of  $\varphi$ . In case of EPI and/or EP plasmas, the nonlinear periodic solution exists in a very small range  $(1/\gamma) \leq \varphi \leq 2 - (1/\gamma)$ . It is clearly seen in Fig. (3.2) that the potential  $U(\varphi)$  gradually loses its symmetry with the increase of the value of  $\alpha$ . One may reasonably expect that such dependence of potential on  $\alpha$  have direct effects on the wave-breaking amplitudes of relativistically strong waves in two or three species plasmas.



Figure 3.2: Variation of normalized potential for different values of  $\alpha$  in EPI (0 <  $\alpha < 1$ ) and EP ( $\alpha = 0$ ) plasmas with  $\mu = 1/1836$  and  $\gamma = 10$ . The potential  $U(\varphi)$  is real in the range  $1/\gamma \leq \varphi \leq 2 - (1/\gamma)$ . All the three species are relativistic.

The restriction on the allowed values of  $U(\varphi)$  inhibits to achieve arbitrarily large amplitude of the electric field. In order to obtain the maximum achievable electric field supported by the plasma viz. wave-breaking field, we need to find out the maximum "permissible" value of  $U(\varphi)$  ( $U_{max}$ ). We find from Ref. [57] that, in case of EP plasma ( $\alpha = 0$ ),  $U_{max}$  is calculated at  $\varphi = 1/\gamma$ . Due to the symmetry of  $U(\varphi)$  about  $\varphi = 1$  for  $\alpha = 0$ ,  $U_{max}$  could have been calculated at  $\varphi = 2 - (1/\gamma)$ . In case of EPI plasma ( $0 < \alpha < 1$ ),  $U(\varphi)$  loses its symmetry and thereby  $U_{max}$  should be calculated at  $\varphi = 2 - (1/\gamma)$ . As we can see from Fig. (3.2) that,  $U_{max}$  gradually decreases with the increase of  $\alpha$ . The fictitious particle of our problem can oscillate within the potential well with the maximum amplitude determined by the maximum permissible value of  $U(\varphi)$  at  $\varphi = 2 - (1/\gamma)$ . For any other values of  $U(\varphi)$  (calculated at  $\varphi = 2 - (1/\gamma)$ , the motion of the fictitious particle would be unbounded.

In the restricted range of  $\varphi$ , when  $U(\varphi)$  reaches its minimum value at  $\varphi = 1$ , i.e.,  $U(\varphi) \mid_{\varphi=1} = 0$ , then the kinetic energy takes its maximum value. Therefore, at  $\varphi = 1$ , the normalized electric field E of the plasma wave which equals to  $-(1/\beta^2)(d\varphi/d\xi)$  also reaches its maximum value  $E_{\text{max}}$ . Therefore, from Eq. (3.12) we obtain

$$E_{\max} = \frac{1}{\beta^2} \sqrt{2I}.$$
(3.14)

But I can not be arbitrarily large. A nonlinear periodic plasma wave exists if the right hand side of Eq. (3.13) is real, i.e.,  $I \ge U(\varphi)$ . In case of EPI and/or EP plasmas, I, at most, can be equal to  $U(\varphi = 2 - (1/\gamma)) \equiv U_{\text{max}}$ . With this value of I, we get the wave-breaking amplitude as

$$E_{\rm wb} = \frac{1}{\beta^2} \sqrt{2U_{\rm max}}.$$
(3.15)

Now the maximum permissible value of  $U(\varphi)$ , reaching the point  $\varphi = 2 - (1/\gamma)$ , is obtained from Eq. (3.11) as

$$U_{\max} = \beta^4 \gamma^2 \left[ \left( \frac{\alpha}{\mu} - \alpha + 2 \right) - \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\gamma + 1}} \sqrt{\zeta_1 \zeta_2} - 2\sqrt{\frac{\gamma}{\gamma + 1}} \right], \qquad (3.16)$$

where  $\zeta_1 = (1 - \mu^2)/\mu^2$  and  $\zeta_2 = 1 + \gamma(1 - \mu)/(1 + \mu)$ . Therefore, by using the above expression for  $U_{\text{max}}$ , we finally obtain the wave-breaking electric field for relativistically strong electrostatic waves in EPI plasma from Eq. (3.15) as

$$E_{\rm wb} = \sqrt{2\gamma} \left[ \left( \frac{\alpha}{\mu} - \alpha + 2 \right) - \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\gamma + 1}} \sqrt{\zeta_1 \zeta_2} - 2\sqrt{\frac{\gamma}{\gamma + 1}} \right]^{1/2}.$$
(3.17)

The variation of wave-breaking field with  $\alpha$  for different values of  $\gamma$  is shown in Fig. (3.3). It is seen that the wave-breaking field amplitudes are gradually being decreased with the increase of the value of  $\alpha$ .



Figure 3.3: Variation of normalized wave-breaking electric field amplitude with  $\alpha$  for  $\mu = 1/1836$  for different  $\gamma$ . All the three species are relativistic.

The wave-breaking limit for the relativistic plasma waves in cold EP plasmas can be obtained by putting  $\alpha = 0$  in Eq. (3.17) as

$$E_{\rm wb} = 2\gamma \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{\sqrt{\gamma + 1}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(3.18)

Nevertheless, the wave-breaking limit for the relativistic plasma waves in cold electron-ion (EI) plasmas can not be recovered from Eq. (3.17) by merely putting  $\alpha = 1$ . Because in case of electron-ion plasmas the range of  $\varphi$  for which  $U(\varphi)$ takes its real value is widened compared to the range in EPI and/or EP plasmas, i.e.,  $1/\gamma \leq \varphi \leq 1 + \frac{1}{\mu} \{1 - (1/\gamma)\}$ . In this case,  $U(\varphi)$  reaches its maximum allowed value at  $\varphi = 1/\gamma$ . Thus, by putting  $\alpha = 1$  and  $\varphi = 1/\gamma$  in Eq. (3.11), we obtain the maximum permissible value of  $U(\varphi)$  in case of EI plasmas as

$$U_{\max} = \beta^4 \gamma^2 \left[ 1 + \frac{1 - \sqrt{\eta_1 \eta_2}}{\mu} \right], \qquad (3.19)$$

where  $\eta_1 = 1 + \mu$  and  $\eta_2 = 1 + \mu(\gamma - 1)/(\gamma + 1)$ . And, consequently, the wavebreaking amplitude for an EI plasma where both the electron and ion follow the relativistic dynamics simply reads as [57]

$$E_{\rm wb} = \sqrt{2}\gamma \left(1 + \frac{1 - \sqrt{\eta_1 \eta_2}}{\mu}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (3.20)

Interestingly, in the equal mass limit ( $\mu = 1$ ), from Eq. (3.20) one can recover the expression for  $E_{\rm wb}$  given in Eq. (3.18). Moreover, the relativistic wave-breaking amplitude in an EI plasma with stationary ion background can be recovered from Eq. (3.20) by taking the appropriate limit  $\mu \to 0$  as

$$E_{\rm wb} = \frac{\sqrt{2(\gamma - 1)}}{\beta},\tag{3.21}$$

which is the well-known AP limit.[49]



Figure 3.4: Phase portrait in case of EPI and/or EP plasmas:  $1 \rightarrow \alpha = 0, 2 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.2, 3 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.4, 4 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.6, 5 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.8, 6 \rightarrow \alpha = 0.99$  with  $\mu = 1/1836$  and  $\gamma = 10$ .



Figure 3.5: Variation of normalized plasma wavelength with the equilibrium ion to electron concentration ratio  $\alpha$ :  $(1 \rightarrow \gamma = 1.01, 2 \rightarrow \gamma = 5, 3 \rightarrow \gamma = 10)$ . The electron to ion mass ratio  $\mu = 1/1836$  in all cases.


Figure 3.6: Phase portrait in case of electron-ion plasmas for  $(1 \rightarrow \gamma = 1.2, 2 \rightarrow \gamma = 5, 3 \rightarrow \gamma = 10)$ . The electron to ion mass ratio  $\mu = 1/1836$  in all cases.

Now we proceed to find the wavelength  $\lambda$  of relativistic plasma waves. The wavelength can be defined as twice the distance between minimum and maximum points of the electrostatic potential  $\varphi$ . Thus, in units of  $k_p^{-1}$ , wavelength is given by

$$\lambda = 2 \int_{\varphi_{-}}^{\varphi_{+}} \frac{d\varphi}{d\varphi/d\xi},\tag{3.22}$$

where  $\varphi_{\pm}$  are the roots of the right hand side of Eq. (3.13). The roots can be found out from the phase portrait of Eq. (3.13). The phase portrait is shown in Fig. (3.4) with different values of equilibrium ion to electron concentration ratio  $\alpha$ , and it bounds the possible real solution of Eq. (3.13). Indeed,  $d\varphi/d\xi = 0$  determines the roots  $\varphi_{\pm}$ . Then by using the formula given in Eq. (3.22), we have calculated the wavelengths of relativistic plasma waves. The variation of wavelength with  $\alpha$ in EPI and/or EP plasmas is shown in Fig. (3.5). We find that the wavelength gradually increases with the increase of ion concentration in EPI plasmas.

In case of EI plasmas ( $\alpha = 1$ ), the phase portrait is drawn separately for three different values of  $\gamma$  in Fig. (3.6). Then by using (3.22) we have calculated the wavelengths, which are 1.6051, 12.6074 and, 17.5930 in units of  $k_p^{-1}$  for  $\gamma = 1.2$ ,  $\gamma = 5$ , and  $\gamma = 10$ , respectively.

#### 3.3 summary

In summary, we have analyzed a one-dimensional nonlinear propagation of relativistically strong plasma waves in cold three component electron-positron-ion (EPI) plasmas. We have allowed the relativistic motion of massive ions along with the other two species of the system. Consideration of ion motion is quite reasonable in the context of wake-field generation by intense laser pulses or an electron beam, etc., where the ion fluid also follows relativistic dynamics. The maximum permissible electric field amplitude before wave-breaking ("wave-breaking amplitude") has been derived. It has been shown that the wave-breaking electric field amplitude in EPI plasmas depends on the ratio of equilibrium ion density to equilibrium electron/positron density along with on the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with the phase velocity of the plasma wave and on the ratio of the electron/positron mass to ion mass. Subsequently, it is found that the wave-breaking amplitude decreases with the increase of the ratio of equilibrium ion density to equilibrium electron density, and thus, the value of maximum amplitude possible before wavebreaking gets lowered due to the presence of a fraction of massive ions in a pure electron-positron plasma.

# Chapter 4

# Wave-breaking amplitudes of relativistic upper-hybrid oscillations

A travelling wave solution is presented for relativistic upper-hybrid oscillations (RUHOs) in a cold magnetized plasma. An expression for the wave-breaking amplitudes of RUHOs is derived. The wave-breaking amplitudes of RUHOs are found to decrease with the increase of the strength of an ambient magnetic field. These results will be of relevance to the laboratory context of particle acceleration by wake-fields in which magnetic field plays a central role.

#### 4.1 Introduction

There has been an extensive theoretical progress on the understandings of the 'wave-breaking amplitudes' for electron plasma waves in the last few decades.[2, 21, 49, 51, 52, 54–56, 82, 87, 89] Much analytical information on the electrostatic wave-breaking has significantly improved our understanding of plasma-based particle acceleration schemes.[4, 8, 28, 30, 85, 86, 89, 90] Nevertheless, there has not been much investigation regarding wave-breaking of relativistic electrostatic plasma oscillations in an ambient magnetic field. About a few decades ago, Katsouleas and Dawson discussed the 'surfatron' mechanism for the energization of electrons to arbitrarily high energies by the relativistic upper-hybrid (UH) wave shas been made showing an exact space-time dependent solution in Lagrangian co-ordinates.[46] Furthermore, the importance of RUHOs has also been discussed in the context of electron surfing acceleration in a self-consistent simulation for astrophysical applications.[91]

In this chapter, we obtain an expression for the wave-breaking amplitudes of relativistic upper-hybrid oscillations (RUHOs) in a cold magnetized plasma. A travelling wave solution for the wave electric field, electron density, and relativistic momenta of electrons associated with RUHOs is also presented. Moreover, we construct travelling wave solution from the exact space-time dependent solution of RUHOs by appropriately choosing initial conditions. It is well known that, in plasma-based particle acceleration schemes, wave-breaking amplitude serves as one of the critical parameters that determines the maximum energy gain of the accelerated particles.[4, 8] In such experiments, the waves which get excited in the wake of powerful sources are nothing but electrostatic travelling waves.[92] These waves are very sensitive to a small deviation of the initial conditions; a slight longitudinal perturbation causes such waves to break at arbitrary amplitudes via the phase-mixing process.[93, 94]

#### 4.2 Travelling wave solution for upper hybrid wave

The basic 1-D equations that govern the relativistic electrostatic plasma oscillations in an ambient magnetic field are the electron continuity equation, the x and ycomponents of relativistic electron momentum equations, and the electric field evolution equation, respectively,

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_x \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) n = -n \frac{\partial v_x}{\partial x},\tag{4.1}$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_x \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) p_x = -eE - \frac{eB_0}{c} v_y, \tag{4.2}$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_x \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) p_y = \frac{eB_0}{c} v_x,\tag{4.3}$$

and

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_x \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) E = 4\pi e n_0 v_x,\tag{4.4}$$

where *n* is the electron density,  $p_x = \gamma m v_x$  and  $p_y = \gamma m v_y$  denote components of relativistic electron momentum along the *x* and *y* directions, respectively, and  $\gamma = \{1 - (v_x^2 + v_y^2)/c^2\}^{-1/2}$  represents the relativistic Lorentz factor. The electric field is  $\mathbf{E} = E\hat{e}_x$ , where  $\hat{e}_x$  is the unit vector along the *x* axis. The ambient magnetic field is  $\mathbf{B} = B_0\hat{e}_z$ , where  $\hat{e}_z$  is the unit vector along the *z* axis. The



Figure 4.1: Variation of normalized electric field of RUHOs, with  $\beta = 0.5$ ,  $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and  $\alpha = 1.5$ .

rest of the symbols have their usual meanings. The massive ions are assumed to be static and they constitute a charge neutralizing background with a constant density  $n_0$ .

In search for a travelling wave solution of Eqs. (4.1)-(4.4), it is convenient to introduce a variable transformation  $\zeta = k_p(x - v_{ph}t)$ , where  $k_p = \omega_{uh}/v_{ph}$  with  $\omega_{uh} = \sqrt{\omega_{pe}^2 + \Omega_e^2}$ ,  $\omega_{pe} = \sqrt{4\pi n_0 e^2/m}$  and  $\Omega_e = eB_0/mc$ ;  $v_{ph}$  is the phase velocity of the plane wave. In this coordinate system the transformed equations become

$$\left(1 - \frac{\beta_x}{\bar{v}_{ph}}\right)\frac{dp_x}{d\zeta} = E + \beta\beta_y,\tag{4.5}$$

$$\left(1 - \frac{\beta_x}{\bar{v}_{ph}}\right)\frac{dp_y}{d\zeta} = -\beta\beta_x,\tag{4.6}$$

$$(\bar{v}_{ph} - \beta_x)\frac{dn}{d\zeta} = n\frac{d\beta_x}{d\zeta},\tag{4.7}$$

and

$$(\bar{v}_{ph} - \beta_x)\frac{dE}{d\zeta} = -\bar{v}_{ph}\bar{\omega}_p^2\beta_x,\tag{4.8}$$



Figure 4.2: Variation of normalized electron density associated with RUHOs, with  $\beta = 0.5$ ,  $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and  $\alpha = 1.5$ .

respectively, where  $\beta_x = v_x/c$ ,  $\beta_y = v_y/c$ ,  $\bar{v}_{ph} = v_{ph}/c$ ,  $\beta = \Omega_e/\omega_{uh}$ ,  $\bar{\omega}_p = \omega_{pe}/\omega_{uh}$  with  $\bar{\omega}_p^2 + \beta^2 = 1$ . And, the normalized variables we have used are  $E \to eE/(m\omega_{uh}c)$ ,  $p_x \to p_x/mc$ ,  $p_y \to p_y/mc$ , and  $n \to n/n_0$ . Now the solutions for the x and y components of the normalized momenta are obtained as

$$p_x = \pm \left[ \left( \alpha - \frac{E^2}{2\bar{\omega}_p^2} \right)^2 - 1 - \frac{\beta^2}{\bar{\omega}_p^4} E^2 \right]^{1/2}, \qquad (4.9)$$

and

$$p_y = \frac{\beta}{\bar{\omega}_p^2} E,\tag{4.10}$$

respectively. Here  $\alpha = \sqrt{1 + p^2} + E^2/(2\bar{\omega}_p^2)$  signifies the total energy of the system, where  $p^2 = p_x^2 + p_y^2$ . Now combining Eqs. (4.8) and (4.9) we obtain

$$\frac{dE}{d\zeta} = -\bar{\omega}_p^2 \frac{\sqrt{(E^2 - a)^2 - b^2}}{(2\alpha\bar{\omega}_p^2 - E^2)},\tag{4.11}$$

where  $a = 2(\alpha \bar{\omega_p}^2 + \beta^2)$  and  $b = 2\sqrt{1 - 2\bar{\omega_p}^2 \beta^2 (1 - \alpha)}$ .

Next, we introduce two new variables  $\theta$  and r through the following definitions:  $E^2 = (a - b) \sin^2 \theta$  and  $r^2 = (a - b)/(a + b)$ . After some simple algebra, we obtain



Figure 4.3: Variation of normalized x-component of relativistic electron momentum, with  $\beta = 0.5$ ,  $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and  $\alpha = 1.5$ .

the following relation for the travelling wave solution:

$$-\bar{\omega}_p^2 \zeta = A(r)F(r,\theta) + B(r)G(r,\theta) + C(r)\sin\theta, \qquad (4.12)$$

where

$$A(r) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{b(1-r^2)}} \left\{ \sqrt{\bar{\omega}_p^4 (1-r^2)^2 + r^2 b^2} - b \right\},$$
  
$$B(r) = \sqrt{\frac{2b}{1-r^2}}, \quad C(r) = -\left(\frac{r}{\bar{v}_{ph}}\right) \sqrt{\frac{2b}{1-r^2}},$$
(4.13)

and  $F(r, \theta)$  and  $G(r, \theta)$  are the incomplete elliptical integrals of the first and second kind, respectively.

For typical parameter values  $\beta = 0.5$ ,  $\gamma_{ph} = 10 \ [\gamma_{ph} = (1 - \bar{v}_{ph}^2)^{-1/2}$  signifying the Lorentz factor associated with the phase velocity of RUHOs], and  $\alpha = 1.5$ , the variations of E, n,  $p_x$ , and  $p_y$  as a function of  $\zeta$  are shown in Fig. (4.1), Fig. (4.2), Fig. (4.3), and Fig. (4.4), respectively.



Figure 4.4: Variation of normalized *y*-component of relativistic electron momentum, with  $\beta = 0.5$ ,  $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ , and  $\alpha = 1.5$ .

#### 4.3 Determination of breaking field amplitude

We now proceed to find the wave-breaking amplitudes of RUHOs. It is well known that, at the wave-breaking, both the electron density and gradient of electric field become infinite.[18, 21] Thus the maximum allowable electric field amplitude - so called - the 'wave-breaking amplitude' of RUHOs can be found out if one sets the denominator of the electron density expression to zero. Now the expression of electron density in terms of the *x*-component of electron velocity can be obtained from Eq. (4.7) as

$$n = \frac{\bar{v}_{ph}}{\bar{v}_{ph} - \beta_x},\tag{4.14}$$

from which we obtain the wave-breaking amplitudes of RUHOs,  $E_{wb}$ , as

$$\frac{eE_{wb}}{m\omega_{pe}c} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-\beta^2}} \left[ 2\{\alpha(1-\beta^2) + \beta^2\gamma_{ph}^2\} \pm 2\{\beta^4\gamma_{ph}^4 + 2\alpha\beta^2\gamma_{ph}^2(1-\beta^2) + \gamma_{ph}^2(1-\beta^2)^2\}^{1/2} \right]^{1/2}.$$
(4.15)

Now we observe that in absence of magnetic field ( $\beta = 0$ ) the above expression of



Figure 4.5: Variation of normalized wave-breaking field with magnetic field ( $\beta = \Omega_e / \omega_{uh}$ ) of RUHOs, with  $\gamma_{ph} = 10$ .

 $E_{wb}$  becomes

$$\frac{eE_{wb}}{m\omega_{pe}c} = \sqrt{2(\alpha \pm \gamma_{ph})},\tag{4.16}$$

signifying the wave-breaking limit of relativistic electron plasma oscillations (RE-POs) - so called - the 'Akhiezer-Polovin (AP) limit'. The well-known 'AP limit'[49]  $(eE_{wb}^{app}/m\omega_{pe}c) = \sqrt{2(\gamma_{ph}-1)}$  can be recovered by taking the negative sign as well as by setting  $\alpha = 2\gamma_{ph} - 1$  in the expression of Eq. (4.16). If we would've taken positive sign then  $\alpha$  would take unphysical value( $\alpha = -1$  is absurd). Taking negative sign in the expression of wave breaking field [Eq. (4.15)] and  $\alpha = 2\gamma_{ph} - 1$ the variation of the wave-breaking electric field with the ambient magnetic field is shown in Fig. (4.5). It is evident that, for a fixed value of  $\gamma_{ph}$ , the wavebreaking electric field gradually decreases with the increase of the strength of an ambient magnetic field. This fact could've been anticipated if we would've looked at the expression of  $\alpha$ , where applying an external magnetic field in the plasma system introduces an extra degree of freedom. At the point of wave breaking the x-component of the fluid velocity matches with the fixed phase velocity of the plasma wave in case of magnetized as well as for the unmagnetized plasma system. But due to the extra degree of freedom in the magnetized case (y-component of fluid velocity) the wave breaking field amplitude decreases from its unmagnetized value in order to conserve the total energy of the system. That's the reason why the wave-breaking amplitudes of REPOs always remain higher in comparison with those of RUHOs.[46]

## 4.4 Relation between Lagrangian and travelling wave solution

We now construct travelling wave solution from the exact non-stationary solution of RUHOs presented in Ref. [21]. The dynamics (an explicit time dependence) of RUHOs can be readily obtained as[46]

$$\bar{\omega}_{p}^{2}\omega_{uh}\tau = \{A(r)F(r,\theta) + B(r)G(r,\theta)\} + \Phi(\xi),$$
(4.17)

where  $\Phi(\xi)$  is an integration constant, and  $(\xi, \tau)$  are Lagrangian variables:[18, 21, 51, 72, 95]  $\xi = x - \int_0^{\tau} v_x(\xi, \tau') d\tau', \ \tau = t$ . Now we subtract  $(\bar{\omega}_p^2 \omega_{uh} / \bar{v}_{ph} c) x$  from both sides of Eq. (4.17) and replace  $\tau$  by t to get

$$-\bar{\omega}_{p}^{2}\left\{-\omega_{uh}t + \left(\frac{\omega_{uh}}{\bar{v}_{ph}c}\right)x\right\}$$
$$= \left\{A(r)F(r,\theta) + B(r)G(r,\theta)\right\} + \Phi(\xi) - \left(\frac{\bar{\omega}_{p}^{2}\omega_{uh}}{\bar{v}_{ph}c}\right)x.$$
(4.18)

Noting that  $\zeta = -\omega_{uh}t + (\omega_{uh}/\bar{v}_{ph}c)x$  and using the following coordinate transformation relation[46]

$$x = \xi + \frac{cr}{\omega_{uh}\bar{\omega}_p^2} \sqrt{\frac{2b}{1-r^2}} \sin\theta, \qquad (4.19)$$

we can re-write Eq. (4.18) as

$$-\bar{\omega}_p^2 \zeta = A(r)F(r,\theta) + B(r)G(r,\theta) + C(r)\sin\theta + \left\{ \Phi(\xi) - \left(\frac{\bar{\omega}_p^2 \omega_{uh}}{\bar{v}_{ph}c}\right)\xi \right\}.$$
(4.20)

Comparing Eq. (4.20) with the travelling wave solution of RUHOs [Eq. (4.12)], we find the following condition to freeze the exact space-time dependent solution into the travelling wave solution:

$$\Phi(\xi) = \left(\frac{\bar{\omega}_p^2 \omega_{uh}}{\bar{v}_{ph}c}\right) \xi.$$
(4.21)

We notice that in absence of magnetic field ( $\beta = 0$  and thus  $\bar{\omega}_p = 1$ ) the above initial condition (4.21) becomes

$$\Phi(\xi) = \frac{\omega_{pe}\xi}{\bar{v}_{ph}c},\tag{4.22}$$

This is the same initial condition that has been obtained by Verma *et al.* in the analytical investigation of relativistic electron plasma oscillations.[68] The knowledge of such initial condition is very important to study the phase mixing process discussed in the up-coming chapters. P.S. Verma *et al.* have clearly demonstrated this using a one-dimensional simulation based on the Dawson sheet model.[93] It has been shown that a slight deviation from this initial condition can cause AP longitudinal waves to break through the process of phase mixing at an amplitude well below the breaking amplitude for AP waves. We conjecture that similar kind of numerical solution can be easily performed for the magnetized case also.

#### 4.5 Summary

In summary, a travelling wave solution is presented for the relativistic cold plasma waves in an ambient magnetic field. The stationary solutions for the different fluid-field quantities associated with relativistic upper-hybrid oscillations (RUHOs) viz., the electron density, relativistic electron momenta, and wave electric field are obtained. The travelling wave analysis provides an expression for the wavebreaking amplitude of RUHOs which, for a fixed phase velocity, is found to decrease with the increase of the strength of an ambient magnetic field. Consequently, one may conclude that, for a fixed phase velocity, wave-breaking amplitudes of RUHOs always remain smaller in comparison with those of relativistic electron plasma oscillations (REPOs). Another interesting aspect is that, from the exact space-time dependent solution of RUHOs, we have constructed the travelling wave solution by making a special choice of initial conditions. These results are of particular interest in order to study phase-mixing effects of RHUOs by perturbing the system on its initial stationary structures. Furthermore, the results of our investigation could contribute to the understanding of the plasma-based particle energization schemes in which magnetic fields play a central role.

## Chapter 5

# Phase-mixing of large amplitude electron plasma oscillations in presence of ion inhomogeneity

Phase-mixing of large amplitude non-relativistic electron oscillations around an inhomogeneous background of massive ions has been studied in a cold plasma. For our purposes, a space periodic but time independent ion density profile along with a perturbation in the electron density are considered. An exact space-time dependent solution is presented in parametric form by using Lagrangian coordinates. An inhomogeneity in the ion density causes the characteristic plasma frequency to acquire spatial dependency, leading to phase-mixing and thus breaking of excited oscillations at arbitrary amplitudes. The effects of finite amplitude electron density perturbation on the process of phase-mixing have also been discussed.

#### 5.1 Introduction

During the last few decades, large number of theoretical and experimental investigation have been performed to explore the physics of wave breaking in various physical situations.[3, 4, 8, 16, 18, 21, 30, 46, 48, 49, 51–53, 55, 67, 82, 85, 86, 90, 93, 96, 97] But those analysis were mostly done with the assumption of homogeneous stationary ion background. However, if inhomogeneity in the ion density is considered, the characteristic frequency of the plasma wave becomes space dependent. And when it happens, the phase mixing occurs due to the self-intersection of electron trajectories, leading to breaking of the wave.

The phase-mixing/wave-breaking phenomena of nonlinear electron oscillations around a time stationary but inhomogeneous background of massive ions have been studied by several authors.[22, 70, 71] In 1989, Infeld *et al.* have investigated the phase-mixing process in presence of sinusoidal time stationary ion density inhomogeneity in the nonrelativistic plasma system.[22] Later, similar analysis has been done for the nonlinear Langmuir oscillation against single-ion pulse or cavity background.[70] In the present paper, a non-relativistic analysis of electron plasma oscillations in presence of a time stationary but space periodic ion density profile has been performed. Here, the main difference from most of the earlier analyses is that, in presence of ion inhomogeneity, instead of treating a uniform initial electron density we have considered a finite amplitude electron perturbation. Such type of initial condition has been adopted by Kaw *et al.* to investigate the mode-coupling effect of electron plasma waves.[98] Also, such initial conditions that we are considering here may occur in experiments involving beam or laser induced plasma oscillations in presence of pre-existing ion waves in the plasma background. In recent years, studies on phase-mixing and nonlinear dynamics of plasma oscillations/waves are being extensively reported by several authors.[94, 97, 99–105]

By transforming into Lagrangian coordinates, we have obtained an exact nonstationary solution of the problem. Nevertheless, an exact calculation of spatiotemporal evolution of the nonrelativistic electron plasma waves in the inhomogeneous plasma background does not result in the physical understanding of the novel phase-mixing phenomenon. In order to expose the underlying physics, one may need to do a perturbative calculation or to adopt a reasonable approximation, which gives an explicit expression for the time scale in which the wave phase-mixes and eventually breaks (phase-mixing time). Keeping this in mind, we have performed a homotopy perturbation analysis which explicitly gives us the dependence of phase-mixing time on the initial conditions; a result which is simply difficult to obtain from the exact result.

#### 5.2 Basic Equations and Linear Analysis

The space-time evolution of large amplitude electron oscillations around an inhomogeneous background of massive ions in a cold collisionless plasma can be described fairly by the following 1-D electron fluid-Maxwell's equations:

$$\frac{\partial n_e}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial n_e v_e}{\partial x} = 0, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\frac{\partial v_e}{\partial t} + v_e \frac{\partial v_e}{\partial x} = -eE/m_e, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial x} = 4\pi e(n_i - n_e),\tag{5.3}$$

where all the symbols have their usual meanings. In writing the above equations, we have treated the electron fluid non-relativistically. We further assume that, in the equilibrium plasma state, a pre-existing ion wave induces an inhomogeneity in the background ion density. For the sake of simplicity, we consider the ion density profile to be time independent but spatially periodic

$$n_i(x,t) = n_0(1+\delta_i \cos k_i x), \tag{5.4}$$

where  $\delta_i$  and  $k_i$ , respectively, denote the amplitude and wavenumber of the ion inhomogeneity. Moreover, we take the perturbation in the electron density as

$$n_e(x,0) = n_0(1 + \delta_e \cos k_e x), \tag{5.5}$$

where  $\delta_e$  and  $k_e$ , respectively, signify the strength and inverse of scale length of the perturbation. Thus, an initial charge imbalance between electron and ion creates an electric field which can be obtained from Eq. (5.3) as

$$E(x,0) = 4\pi e n_0 \left( \delta_i k_i^{-1} \sin k_i x - \delta_e k_e^{-1} \sin k_e x \right).$$
(5.6)

This initial electric field drives the plasma system in a nonlinear electron plasma mode. Before performing a nonlinear analysis, we first linearize Eqs. (5.1)-(5.3) in order to extract the essential features of our problem. Following a standard procedure for the linearization, we find the perturbed electric field  $\tilde{E}$  to obey the equation

$$\frac{\partial^2 \tilde{E}}{\partial t^2} + \omega_p^2 \left(1 + \delta_i \cos k_i x\right) \tilde{E} = 0, \qquad (5.7)$$

where  $\omega_p = \sqrt{4\pi n_0 e^2/m_e}$  is the electron plasma frequency. With the initial condition given in Eq. (5.6) and keeping in mind that  $\dot{\tilde{E}}(x,0) = 0$ , a solution of the above equation is given by

$$\tilde{E}(x,t) = 4\pi e n_0 \left(\delta_i k_i^{-1} \sin k_i x - \delta_e k_e^{-1} \sin k_e x\right) \cos \omega t, \qquad (5.8)$$

where  $\omega = \omega_p \sqrt{1 + \delta_i \cos k_i x}$ , signifying that the characteristic frequency of the oscillation acquires a spatial dependency due to the ion density inhomogeneity. This in turn indicates an onset of phase-mixing in the excited oscillations, which leads to the breaking of the oscillations at arbitrary amplitudes. Moreover, the mode-coupling effect can also be explicitly seen if we express the solution given in Eq. (5.8) in terms of Bessel function of first kind  $J_l$  as

$$\tilde{E}(x,t) = \frac{4\pi e n_0 \delta_i}{2k_i} \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} J_l \left(\frac{\delta_i \omega_p t}{2}\right) \left[\cos\varphi\{\sin(l+1)k_i x - \sin(l-1)k_i x\} - \sin\varphi\{\cos(l+1)k_i x - \cos(l-1)k_i x\} - \mu\cos\varphi\{\sin(k_e+lk_i)x + \sin(k_e-lk_i)x\} + \mu\sin\varphi\{\cos(k_e+lk_i)x - \cos(k_e-lk_i)x\}\right],$$

$$(5.9)$$

where  $\varphi = \omega_p t + (l\pi/2)$  and  $\mu = (\delta_e/\delta_i)(k_i/k_e)$ . Thus we see that an ion inhomogeneity essentially causes the mode-coupling where initial energy given to primary " $k_e$ " flows irreversibly towards higher coupled modes " $k_e \pm lk_i$ " as time goes on.[98] And, the time when the amplitude of the primary mode drops appreciably from its initial value is approximately given by  $\omega_p t \sim 2/\delta_i$ , which commonly refers to the phase-mixing time. This suggests that an increase in the strength of ion inhomogeneity results in a decrease in the phase-mixing time. Moreover, in the limit  $\delta_i \to 0$ , the phase-mixing time becomes infinite. Physically, in such a situation, wave coherency can be maintained indefinitely, provided the value of electron perturbation amplitude is kept below its critical value.[3]

## 5.3 Nonlinear analysis: exact space-time dependent Lagrangian solution

Next, to find an exact space-time dependent solution of the problem, we introduce Lagrangian coordinates  $(\xi, \tau)$  through an auxiliary variable  $\psi$ :[51, 72, 73, 94– 96, 106, 107]  $\xi = x - \psi(\xi, \tau), \ \psi = \int_0^\tau v_e(\xi, \tau) d\tau, \ \tau = t$ . Therefore, the electron continuity equation (5.1) simplifies to give  $n_e(\xi, \tau) = n_e(\xi, 0) (1 + \partial \psi / \partial \xi)^{-1}$ . Moreover, expressing Eqs. (5.2) and (5.3) in terms of Lagrangian variables followed by combining them we find a single evolution equation for  $\psi$  as

$$\frac{\partial^3 \psi}{\partial \tau^3} + \omega_p^2 \left[ 1 + \delta_i \cos k_i (\xi + \psi) \right] \partial_\tau \psi = 0.$$
(5.10)

With the prescribed initial conditions, two successive integrations of Eq. (5.10) yield

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \bar{\tau}^2} + \left[\phi + \delta_i \kappa^{-1} \sin \kappa (\bar{x} + \phi) - \delta_e \sin \bar{x}\right] = 0, \qquad (5.11)$$

and

$$\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\bar{\tau}}\right)^2 = -\phi^2 + 2\delta_i \kappa^{-2} [\cos\kappa(\bar{x}+\phi) - \cos\kappa\bar{x}] + 2\delta_e \phi \sin\bar{x}, \qquad (5.12)$$

respectively. In the above two equations, we have introduced the variables:  $\phi = k_e \psi$ ,  $\bar{x} = k_e \xi$ ,  $\bar{\tau} = \omega_p \tau$ . And the parameter  $\kappa = k_i/k_e$  denotes the wave number ratio of ion inhomogeneity to electron perturbation. Thus an exact analytical solution in simple parametric form  $t = t(\bar{x}, \phi)$ ,  $x = x(\bar{x}, \phi)$ , and  $n_e = n_e(\bar{x}, \phi)$  can immediately be given as

$$\omega_p t = \int_0^\phi \frac{d\phi}{\left[2\delta_e\phi\sin\bar{x} - \phi^2 + \frac{2\delta_i}{\kappa^2}\left\{\cos\kappa(\bar{x} + \phi) - \cos\kappa\bar{x}\right\}\right]^{1/2}},$$
  

$$k_e x = \bar{x} - \phi, \text{ and } n_e(\bar{x}, \phi) = n_0(1 + \delta_e\cos\bar{x})\left(1 + \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\bar{x}}\right)^{-1},$$
(5.13)

where

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \bar{x}} = \left[ 2\delta_e \phi \sin \bar{x} - \phi^2 + \frac{2\delta_i}{\kappa^2} \{ \cos \kappa (\bar{x} + \phi) - \cos \kappa \bar{x} \} \right]^{1/2} \times \int_0^\phi d\phi \left[ -\delta_e \phi \cos \bar{x} - \frac{\delta_i}{k} \{ \sin \kappa \bar{x} - \sin \kappa (\bar{x} + \phi) \} \right] \\ \left[ 2\delta_e \sin \bar{x} - \phi^2 + \frac{2\delta_i}{\kappa^2} \{ \cos \kappa (\bar{x} + \phi) - \cos \kappa \bar{x} \} \right]^{-3/2}.$$

## 5.4 Approximate nonlinear solution: Homotopy Perturbation Method

Admittedly, it is difficult to analyse the exact results. In particular, we note that an estimation of the phase-mixing time is turned out to be analytically difficult from the exact parametric solutions. To make the nonlinear results more transparent, we now adopt a reasonable approximation that the scale length of the ion inhomogeneity is much larger than the electron perturbation scale length, i.e.,  $\kappa \equiv k_i/k_e \ll 1$ . For our purposes, we start analyzing the Eq. (5.11). In this situation,  $\sin \kappa (\bar{x} + \phi) \approx \sin \kappa \bar{x} [1 - (\kappa^2 \phi^2)/2] + \kappa \phi \cos \kappa \bar{x}$ , and so the equation (5.11) becomes

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \bar{\tau}^2} + f_1 \phi - f_2 \phi^2 + f_3 \approx 0, \qquad (5.14)$$

where  $f_1 = 1 + \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}$ ,  $f_2 = (\delta_i \kappa/2) \sin \kappa \bar{x}$ ,  $f_3 = (\delta_i/\kappa) \sin \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \sin \bar{x}$ . We now proceed to solve Eq. (5.14) by employing the homotopy perturbation method.[66]



Figure 5.1: Phase-space curves from exact solution for different values of  $\bar{x}$ . Here  $\delta_e = 0.2$ ,  $\delta_i = 0.1$ , and  $\kappa = 0.1$ .



Figure 5.2: Phase-space curves from homotopy perturbation solution for different values of  $\bar{x}$ . Here  $\delta_e = 0.2$ ,  $\delta_i = 0.1$ , and  $\kappa = 0.1$ .

The homotopy of Eq. (5.14) can be constructed by introducing a small parameter  $p \in [0, 1]$  as

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \bar{\tau}^2} + \alpha^2 f_1 \phi + p[(1 - \alpha^2)f_1 \phi - f_2 \phi^2 + f_3] = 0.$$
(5.15)

Notice that, when p = 0, it takes the linearized form, although the value of a parameter  $\alpha$  introduced here is to be found out. And if p = 1, it transformed into the original equation (5.14). Looking for the periodic solution, we expand  $\phi$  in powers of small parameter p, i.e.,  $\phi = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} p^i \phi_i$ . Substituting  $\phi$  into Eq. (5.15),

we collect various powers of p:

$$p^{0} : \frac{\partial^{2} \phi_{0}}{\partial \bar{\tau}^{2}} + \alpha^{2} f_{1} \phi_{0} = 0,$$
  

$$p^{1} : \frac{\partial^{2} \phi_{1}}{\partial \bar{\tau}^{2}} + \alpha^{2} f_{1} \phi_{1} + (1 - \alpha^{2}) f_{1} \phi_{0} - f_{2} \phi_{0}^{2} + f_{3} = 0,$$
  

$$p^{2} : \frac{\partial^{2} \phi_{2}}{\partial \bar{\tau}^{2}} + \alpha^{2} f_{1} \phi_{2} - 2 f_{2} \phi_{0} \phi_{1} + (1 - \alpha^{2}) f_{1} \phi_{1} = 0,$$
  
... (5.16)

With the initial conditions  $\phi(\bar{x}, 0) = \dot{\phi}(\bar{x}, 0) = 0$ , we obtain the following solutions for  $\phi_0$  and  $\phi_1$ 

$$\phi_0 = 0$$
, and  $\phi_1 = \frac{f_3}{f_1 \alpha^2} \left[ \cos(\alpha \sqrt{f_1} \,\bar{\tau}) - 1 \right],$  (5.17)

respectively.

Inserting the solutions for  $\phi_0$  and  $\phi_1$  in the evolution equation of  $\phi_2$  we obtain

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi_2}{\partial \bar{\tau}^2} + \alpha^2 f_1 \phi_2 + (\alpha^{-2} - 1) f_3 \left[ \cos(\alpha \sqrt{f_1} \ \bar{\tau}) - 1 \right] = 0.$$
(5.18)

To remove secular term in  $\phi_2$ , we require vanishing co-efficient of  $\cos(\alpha \sqrt{f_1} \ \bar{\tau})$ which makes  $\alpha = 1$ . Thus the normalized characteristic frequency of oscillation,  $\bar{\omega}$ (normalized by  $\omega_p$ ), turns out to be

$$\bar{\omega} \equiv \alpha \sqrt{f_1} = \sqrt{1 + \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}},\tag{5.19}$$

which clearly shows a space dependency of the frequency, indicating phase-mixing of the oscillations. This is certainly caused due to an inhomogeneity in the background ion concentration. Physically, the position dependent frequency causes the different electrons situated at different locations in space to oscillate at different frequencies which leads to (complete) destruction of the wave coherency in a finite time. Now the solution can be obtained up to the first order (sufficient in the present context) as

$$\phi(\bar{x},\bar{\tau}) = \lim_{p \to 1} [\phi_0 + p \ \phi_1] = \frac{f_3}{\bar{\omega}^2} \left( \cos \bar{\omega} \bar{\tau} - 1 \right).$$
(5.20)

For small  $\delta_i$ , we can safely set  $\bar{\omega} \approx 1 + (\delta_i/2) \cos \kappa \bar{x}$ . Then an expression for the electron density becomes

$$n_e(\bar{x},\bar{\tau}) = n_0(1+\delta_e \cos \bar{x})/D, \qquad (5.21)$$

where  $D = 1 + f_4(\cos \bar{\omega}\bar{\tau} - 1) + \delta_i\kappa f_3\tau \sin \kappa \bar{x} \sin \bar{\omega}\bar{\tau}$ . Here  $f_4 = (\delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \cos \bar{x})$ . And, the expression for the electric field becomes

$$\bar{E} = f_3(\cos\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau} - 1) + \frac{\delta_i}{\kappa}\sin\kappa[\bar{x} + f_3(\cos\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau} - 1)], \qquad (5.22)$$

where  $\bar{E} \equiv (k_e E)/(4\pi e n_0)$ . Clearly, in the limit of  $\delta_e = 0$ , these expressions for density and electric field exactly match with the solution obtained by Nappi *et al.*[71] Finally, the co-ordinate transformation relation can be expressed as

$$k_e x = \bar{x} + f_3(\cos\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau} - 1). \tag{5.23}$$



Figure 5.3: Space-time evolution of normalized electron density  $n_e/n_0$  with  $\delta_e = 0.2$ ,  $\delta_i = 0.2$ , and  $\kappa = 0.1$ . The phase-mixing/wave-breaking time  $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}} \sim 45$ .



Figure 5.4: Normalized electric field profiles as a function of  $k_e x$  ( $E_0 = 0.45m_e\omega_p^2/k_e e$ ) for  $\delta_e = 0.45$  and  $\kappa = 0.1$ . Here  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  correspond to  $\delta_i = 0, 0.01$ , and 0.05, respectively, at  $\omega_p t = \pi$ . And,  $b_1, b_2$ , and  $b_3$  correspond to  $\delta_i = 0, 0.01$ , and 0.05, respectively, at  $t = 0, 2\pi$  along with  $c_1, c_2$ , and  $c_3$  is at  $t = \pi/2, 3\pi/2$  for  $\delta_i = 0, 0.01$ , and 0.05, respectively.

We now show that the approximate solutions given in Eqs. (5.20)-(5.23) can be used with confidence for small values of  $\kappa$ . We first construct an equation for  $\phi$  that would yield phase space curves from the approximate solution for  $\phi$  given in Eq. (5.20). The approximate equation for phase space curves is obtained as

$$\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\bar{\tau}}\right)^2 + 2\bar{\omega}^2 \left(\delta_i \kappa^{-1} \sin\kappa\bar{x} - \delta_e \sin\bar{x}\right)\phi + \bar{\omega}^2 \phi^2 = 0.$$
(5.24)

The phase space curves corresponding to Eq. (5.12) and Eq. (5.24) have been drawn in Figs. (5.1) and (5.2), respectively, by using the same parameter values  $\delta_e = 0.2, \, \delta_i = 0.1, \, \text{and } \kappa = 0.1$ . From these figures, it is evident that Eq. (5.24) is a quite good approximation to the exact Eq. (5.12). Physically, these phase portraits exhibit the periodic motion of individual fluid elements. As different fluid elements are characterized by different values of  $\bar{x}$ , in the present context, the time periods of their oscillations depend on  $\bar{x}$ . This is in contrast to the case of homogeneous plasma system where the period of oscillation is independent of  $\bar{x}$ . Due to this space dependency, as time goes on, neighboring fluid elements start to cross their trajectories which indicates an onset of fine scale mixing of oscillations, leading to the breaking of excited oscillations at a finite time. We further stress here that, in absence of ion inhomogeneity ( $\delta_i = 0$ ), the above approximate solutions presented in Eqs. (5.20)-(5.23) exactly match with the results of nonlinear *coherent* electron oscillations in a cold homogeneous plasma as outlined in the Davidson's book.[3]

Next, using the approximate solution, the space-time evolution of the electron density is shown in Fig. (5.3). This clearly shows an appearance of sharp peaks in the electron density profile at a finite time, indicating breaking of the oscillations via phase-mixing phenomena. Moreover, by setting typical parameter values, the electric field profiles are shown in Fig. (5.4). The steepening of the electric field is evident from this figure.



Figure 5.5: Variation of approximate phase-mixing time  $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}}$  with  $\delta_i$  for different values of  $\delta_e$ , with  $\kappa = 0.1$ .

Now the phase-mixing time can be estimated considering the point  $\partial \phi / \partial \bar{x} = -1$ at which singularity in the electron density is observed. The expression for the approximate phase-mixing time is obtained as

$$\omega_p t_{\rm mix} \simeq \frac{2}{\delta_i (\delta_i - \kappa \delta_e)}.\tag{5.25}$$

Fig. (5.5) shows the variation of phase-mixing time  $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}}$  with the amplitude of ion inhomogeneity  $\delta_i$  for different values of perturbation amplitude  $\delta_e$ . Since the background ion density fluctuation makes the frequency space dependent, so increasing its amplitude accelerates the process of phase-mixing, and thereby phase-mixing time decreases with the increase of plasma inhomogeneity. Only for the particular situation when  $\delta_i = 0$ , the phase-mixing time becomes infinity and the wave coherency is preserved indefinitely as expected.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of our investigation show some interesting features which immensely replenish the earlier studies on nonlinear electron plasma oscillations. The perturbative solution of the problem has been obtained with the consideration of a physically realistic condition  $k_i \ll k_e$ . The assumption of large scale space variation in the background ion density is quite justified due to the fact that ions are less mobile than the electrons. Instead of treating an initial electron density profile to be uniform, we have given a perturbation to the electron density in the inhomogeneous ion background. Thus, we were able to see the modifications in the electron density and electric field profiles arising due to variations of electron perturbation amplitudes, ion inhomogeneity strengths, etc. Here, we have also estimated the phase-mixing time which is found to depend on the amplitudes of both ion density fluctuation and electron density perturbation as well as on the scale length ratio of their variations in space.

## Chapter 6

# Phase-mixing of relativistic electron plasma oscillations with background ion inhomogeneity

Combined effects of relativistic electron mass variation and background ion inhomogeneity on the phase-mixing process of large amplitude electron oscillations in cold plasmas have been analyzed by using Lagrangian coordinates. For the purposes, an inhomogeneity in the ion density is assumed to be time-independent but spatially periodic, and a periodic perturbation in the electron density is considered as well. An approximate space-time dependent solution is obtained in the weaklyrelativistic limit by employing the Bogoliubov and Krylov method of averaging. It is shown that phase-mixing process of relativistically corrected electron oscillations is strongly influenced by the presence of pre-existing ion density ripple in the plasma background.

#### 6.1 Introduction

As discussed in the previuos chapter, the wave breaking of electron plasma wave in inhomogeneous plasma is generally caused due to *phase mixing* process. This phase mixing is associated with the space dependence of the characteristic plasma frequency which can arise because of the existing inhomogeneity in the background ion density. Relativity also plays a significant role in the phase mixing process. In this context, the relativistic bursts solution of Infeld and Rowlands [18] is worth to be mentioned. They have provided an exact analytical solution for relativistic longitudinal electron plasma wave in terms of Lagrangian co-ordinates. It has been shown that because of the relativistic electron mass variation the frequency of the nonlinear plasma oscillation becomes both amplitude and space dependent. As a result, an explosive behavior in the excited plasma wave is generally observed and the wave breaks at arbitrarily small amplitude long before it reaches to the limit imposed by Akhiezher and Polovin. [49] In this chapter, we incorporate the effects of nonlinearities associated with both the relativistic mass variation of electron and an inhomogeneity in the background ion density. These two nonlinear effects acting together greatly modifies the physics of phase mixing.

#### 6.2 The basic equations and nonlinear analysis

We start with the following equations describing the dynamics of large amplitude relativistic electron plasma oscillations:

$$\frac{\partial n_e}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x}(n_e v_e) = 0, \tag{6.1}$$

$$\frac{\partial p_e}{\partial t} + v_e \frac{\partial p_e}{\partial x} = -\frac{eE}{m_e},\tag{6.2}$$

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial x} = 4\pi e(n_i - n_e), \tag{6.3}$$

where  $p_e = \gamma m_e v_e$  denotes the relativistic electron momentum along the *x* direction, with  $\gamma = (1 - v_e^2/c^2)^{-1/2}$  representing the relativistic Lorentz factor associated with nonlinear plasma wave. Here, the spatial variations are assumed to be one dimensional. The wave electric field is  $\mathbf{E} = E \ \hat{e}_x$ , where  $\hat{e}_x$  is the unit vector along the *x* axis. And, the rest of the symbols have their usual meanings.

Instead of considering a homogeneous positive ion background, in our investigation, we assume that the plasma system initially has a time independent but space periodic ion density profile

$$n_i(x,t) = n_0(1 + \delta_i \cos k_i x); \tag{6.4}$$

where  $\delta_i$  and  $k_i$ , respectively, denote the amplitude and inverse of scale length of the ion inhomogeneity. Along with this we consider an initial sinusoidal perturbation in the electron density profile

$$n_e(x,0) = n_0(1 + \delta_e \cos k_e x), \tag{6.5}$$

 $\delta_e$  and  $k_e$ , respectively, signify the strength and inverse of scale length of the perturbation. This will give rise to an initial electric field profile obtained from Eq.(6.3) as

$$E(x,0) = 4\pi e n_0 \left( \delta_i k_i^{-1} \sin k_i x - \delta_e k_e^{-1} \sin k_e x \right).$$
(6.6)

We now switch from Eulerian to Lagrangian description in order to elucidate the dynamical evolution of the system starting from the physically realizable initial state as mentioned above. The Eulerian variables (x, t) are related to Lagrangian variables  $(\xi, \tau)$  as: [3, 51, 72, 73, 95]  $\xi = x - \psi(\xi, \tau), \ \tau = t$ , where  $\psi = \int_0^\tau v_e(\xi, \tau) \ d\tau$ . Thus, in the newly introduced co-ordinate system the transformed equations take the form as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \left[ n_e \left( 1 + \partial_{\xi} \psi \right) \right] = 0 \implies n_e = n_e(\xi, 0) (1 + \partial_{\xi} \psi)^{-1}, \tag{6.7}$$

$$\frac{\partial p_e}{\partial \tau} = -\frac{eE}{m_e},\tag{6.8}$$

and

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial \tau} = 4\pi e n_i v_e, \tag{6.9}$$

respectively.

With the specified initial electric field profile, we can reduce the above set of equations into a single nonlinear differential equation of the following form:

$$\frac{\ddot{\psi}}{\left(1-\frac{\dot{\psi}^2}{c^2}\right)^{3/2}} + \omega_p^2 \left[\psi + \frac{\delta_i}{k_i}\sin k_i(\xi+\psi) - \frac{\delta_e}{k_e}\sin k_e\xi\right] = 0, \qquad (6.10)$$

where 'dot' over  $\psi$  denotes partial differentiation w.r.t.  $\tau$  and  $\omega_p = \sqrt{4\pi n_0 e^2/m_e}$ denotes the electron plasma frequency.

Since the massive ions are treated here as motionless, we assume  $k_i \ll k_e$ . In order to gain some insight into the relativistic effects on the excited longitudinal plasma wave in an inhomogeneous ion background, it is sufficient to retain terms up to first order in  $k_i\psi$  in the following expansion:  $\sin k_i(\xi + \psi) \approx \sin k_i\xi + \kappa(k_e\psi)\cos k_i\xi$  as  $(k_i/k_e) \equiv \kappa \ll 1$ . This further simplifies Eq. (6.10) to obtain

$$\ddot{\psi} + \omega_p^2 \left[ \psi + \frac{\delta_i}{k_i} \left\{ \sin k_i \xi + \kappa (k_e \psi) \cos k_i \xi \right\} - \frac{\delta_e}{k_e} \sin k_e \xi \right] \left( 1 - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\dot{\psi}^2}{c^2} \right) \approx 0.$$
(6.11)

Next, introducing normalized variables  $k_e \psi = \phi$ ,  $k_e \xi = \bar{x}$ ,  $\omega_p \tau = \bar{\tau}$ , we get

$$\frac{d^2\phi}{d\bar{\tau}^2} + f_1\phi - f_2\phi\dot{\phi}^2 - f_3\dot{\phi}^2 + f_4 \approx 0, \qquad (6.12)$$

where  $f_1 = 1 + \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}$ ,  $f_2 = 3\beta^2 (1 + \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x})/2$ ,  $f_3 = 3\beta^2 (\delta_i \kappa^{-1} \sin \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \sin \bar{x})/2$ ,  $f_4 = \delta_i \kappa^{-1} \sin \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \sin \bar{x}$ , with  $\beta = \omega_p / (k_e c)$ . In the next section, we present an approximate solution of the Eq. (6.12) by employing the Bogoliubov-Krylov method of averaging.[108]

### 6.3 Nonlinear solution in the weakly relativistic limit: Bogoliubov-Krylov method

Before employing the perturbation method, we further simplify Eq. (6.12) by introducing a new variable  $\chi = \phi + (f_4/f_1)$  to obtain

$$\frac{d^2\chi}{d\bar{\tau}^2} + f_1\chi - f_2\chi \left(\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial\bar{\tau}}\right)^2 = 0.$$
(6.13)

Now treating  $f_2$  as a small parameter, a solution of the above equation by employing the method of Bogoliubov and Krylov[108] is obtained as

$$\chi(\bar{x},\bar{\tau}) = \chi_0(\bar{x})\sin[\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau} + \theta(\bar{x})], \qquad (6.14)$$

where

$$\bar{\omega} = (1 + \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x})^{1/2} \left[ 1 - \frac{3\beta^2}{16} \frac{[(\delta_i/\kappa) \sin \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \sin \bar{x}]^2}{1 + \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}} \right]$$

It is clearly seen from the above expression that the characteristic frequency of the nonlinear plasma mode acquires spatial dependency due to the relativistic variation of electron mass and the ion density inhomogeneity. As a result, different electrons situated at different locations in space oscillate with their local frequencies and they gradually go out of phase with each other in course of nonlinear oscillations. At a finite time, their trajectories cross, leading to loss of coherency of the excited oscillations (wave-breaking) at arbitrarily low amplitudes.

The full solution of the problem depends upon the two unknown functions  $\chi_0(\bar{x})$  and  $\theta(\bar{x})$  which can be determined by our prescribed initial condition, viz.,  $\phi(\bar{x},0) = \dot{\chi}(\bar{x},0) = 0$ . This gives us  $\theta(\bar{x}) = \pi/2$ , and  $\chi_0(\bar{x}) = f_4/f_1$ . Thus we obtain the approximate solution of  $\phi$  truncated to the second order in  $\delta_i$  as

$$\phi(\bar{x},\bar{\tau}) = f_4(1 - \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}) [\cos(\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau}) - 1]. \tag{6.15}$$

From the solution we calculate  $\partial \phi / \partial \bar{x}$  and obtain an expression for electron density as

$$n_e(\bar{x},\bar{\tau}) = \frac{n_0[1+\delta_e\cos\kappa\bar{x}]}{1+A(\bar{x})(\cos\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau}-1)-B(\bar{x})\bar{\tau}\sin\bar{\omega}\bar{\tau}},$$

where,

$$A(\bar{x}) = (\delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \cos \bar{x})(1 - \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}) + \delta_i \kappa f_4 \sin \kappa \bar{x}$$

and

$$B(\bar{x}) = -\frac{\delta_i \kappa f_4 \sin \kappa \bar{x}}{2} (1 - \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}) + \frac{\delta_i^2 \kappa f_4}{8} \sin(2\kappa \bar{x}) - \frac{3}{8} \beta^2 f_4^2 (\delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x} - \delta_e \cos \bar{x}).$$

In Fig. (6.1) we have shown time evolution of electron density for different values of relativistic parameter  $\beta$ , with  $\delta_e = 0.3$ ,  $\delta_i = 0.2$ ,  $\kappa = 0.1$  and  $\bar{x} = \pi$ . An appearance of sharp peaks is observed, indicating breaking of the oscillations through the process of phase-mixing.

Next, from the solution of  $\phi$ , we construct an equation that would yield the phase-space trajectories of different fluid elements as

$$\dot{\phi}^2 + \bar{\omega}^2 \phi^2 + 2\bar{\omega}^2 f_4 (1 - \delta_i \cos \kappa \bar{x}) \phi \approx 0.$$
(6.16)



Figure 6.1: Electron density profiles. Here  $\delta_e = 0.3$ ,  $\delta_i = 0.2$ ,  $\kappa = 0.1$  and  $\bar{x} = \pi$ .



Figure 6.2: Phase-space curves for different values of  $\kappa \bar{x}$ . Here  $\beta = 0.4$ ,  $\delta_e = 0.3$ ,  $\delta_i = 0.1$  and  $\kappa = 0.1$ .

Moreover, we simplify  $\bar{\omega}$  and it is expressed as

$$\bar{\omega} \approx 1 + \frac{\delta_i}{2}\cos(\kappa\bar{x}) - \frac{\delta_i^2}{8}\cos^2(\kappa\bar{x}) - \frac{3}{8}\beta^2 f_4^2.$$
(6.17)

It is evident from the phase portrait Fig. (6.2) that individual electrons execute periodic motion, but the time period of oscillation depends on  $\bar{x}$ . This results in the crossing of their trajectories at a finite time.

The occurrence of secular term in the denominator of the electron density expression due to the space dependency of the frequency causes the density to blow up in a time scale roughly determined by the following expression of the phase mixing time

$$\omega_p t_{\text{mix}} \simeq (\delta_i - \kappa \delta_e)^{-1} \left[ \frac{3\delta_i^2}{8} - \frac{\delta_i}{2} - \frac{3\beta^2}{16\kappa^2} (\delta_i^2 - 2\delta_i \delta_e + \kappa \delta_e^2) \right]^{-1}.$$
(6.18)

The variation of phase mixing time with  $\delta_i$  is shown in Fig. (6.3) for different values of  $\beta$ , with fixed  $\delta_e = 0.3$  and  $\kappa = 0.1$ . From this figure it is evident that relativistically corrected electron oscillations phase mix away quickly in presence of background ion density inhomogeneity.



Figure 6.3: Phase-mixing time vs.  $\delta_i$  for different values of  $\beta$ . Here  $\delta_e = 0.3$  and  $\kappa = 0.1$ .

We now analyze our results in different limiting cases.

(i) Weakly-relativistic electron plasma oscillations in homogeneous plasmas with finite amplitude electron perturbations ( $\beta \neq 0$ ,  $\delta_i = 0$ ,  $\delta_e \neq 0$ ):

In this case, the expressions for nonlinear frequency shifting and the phase-mixing time turn out to be

$$\omega \simeq \left(1 - \frac{3}{16}\beta^2 \delta_e^2 \sin^2 \bar{x}\right) \omega_p,$$

and

$$\omega_p t_{\text{mix}} \simeq [(3/16)\beta^2 \delta_e^3]^{-1},$$

respectively. These are the same expressions as obtained by Infeld *et.* al.[18]and Sengupta *et.* al.[19] Furthermore, in the non-relativistic limit, i.e.,  $\beta \to 0$ , we obtain  $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}} \to \infty$ , which physically represents that the phase coherence of neighboring electrons can be maintained indefinitely.[3, 51]

(ii) Non-relativistic electron plasma oscillations in presence of inhomogeneous ion background with finite amplitude electron perturbations ( $\beta = 0, \ \delta_i \neq 0, \ \delta_e \neq 0$ ): In such a situation, keeping terms up to the second order in  $\delta_i^2$  in Eq. (6.18), we get  $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}} \simeq 2/[\delta_i(\delta_i - \kappa \delta_e)]$ .[109] In addition, when we set  $\delta_e = 0$ , we recover the expression of the phase-mixing time as obtained by Nappi *et.* al.[71]  $\omega_p t_{\text{mix}} \simeq 2/\delta_i^2$ .

#### 6.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, within a fluid description, an analysis of relativistic electron plasma wave breaking has been carried out in presence of ion density inhomogeneity. Admittedly, the development of the fully relativistic theory of nonlinear electron plasma wave in presence of ion density inhomogeneity encounters with significant mathematical difficulties. For the sake of simplicity, we have treated background ion density profile to be spatially periodic but time-independent. In addition, we have considered a finite amplitude electron perturbation. In order to follow an explicit time evolution of the excited electron plasma modes, the Lagrangian coordinates are introduced, and analytic solutions are presented in the weaklyrelativistic limit by employing the Bogoliubov and Krylov method of averaging. An expression for the characteristic frequency of the excited oscillations is derived in the weakly-relativistic limit. A rough estimate of the phase-mixing time is also provided. It is demonstrated that the nonlinear effects associated with relativistic electron mass variation and ion inhomogeneity acting together substantially modifies the process of phase mixing.
## Chapter 7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have summarized the results obtained in this thesis. Some future prospects of our investigation have also been stated in addition.

## 7.1 Summary

To summarize, throughout this thesis we have developed a detailed theoretical investigation to describe the charged particle beam driven wake field excitation process and wave breaking of electron plasma wave in magnetized as well as in unmagnetized plasma systems.

- In chapter II, we have discussed the effect of magnetic field on relativistic electron beam as well as proton beam driven plasma wake wave dynamics. Our theoretical solution reveals several interesting features which have significant usefulness in the determination of the energy gain in the charged particle beam driven acceleration process. The effect of magnetic field on the wake field structures with the consideration of its importance in minimization of phase slippage of accelerated electrons has been discussed. In addition, the wake field excitation mechanism by trains of proton micro-bunches has been demonstrated in our investigation.
- In chapter III, stationary wave solution is obtained to provide an analytical estimation of the wave-breaking amplitude of electrostatic waves in three component electron-positron-ion plasma. Consideration of relativistic dynamics of all the three species of the plasma system has been made. The effect of ion motion on the limiting electric field amplitude and also on the wavelength of the plasma wave have been discussed elaborately.
- In chapter IV, a travelling wave solution has been obtained in order to estimate the breaking field amplitude of relativistic upper hybrid wave (UHW). The wave breaking amplitude for such mode is observed to decrease with

the increase in the strength of the external magnetic field. Also, we have constructed travelling wave solution from the exact space time dependent solution for UHW by choosing a particular initial condition.

- In Chapter V, the phase mixing process arising due to ion density inhomogeneity in the nonrelativistic cold plasma system has been studied. An exact solution along with an approximate perturbative solution have been presented. In contrast to the earlier studies, instead of treating a uniform initial electron density we have considered a finite amplitude electron perturbation in presence of ion density inhomogeneity. Thereby, it has been possible to see the modifications in the electron density and electric field profiles arising due to variations of electron perturbation amplitudes, ion inhomogeneity strengths, etc. These results can be of certain relevance in the basic studies of wave breaking phenomena and also in laboratory context.
- In chapter VI, within a fluid description, an investigation of relativistic electron plasma wave breaking has been carried out in presence of ion density inhomogeneity. An expression for the phase mixing time has been derived in the weakly-relativistic limit. It is observed that the nonlinear effects associated with relativistic electron mass variation and ion inhomogeneity acting together substantially modifies the process of phase mixing.

## 7.2 Future scope of the work

We would like to provide here a brief sketch of the future prospects of our investigation on wave breaking and plasma wake wave excitation process.

• In this thesis, the studies on wave breaking so far have been done in the cold

plasma system. However, we can extend our analysis of wave breaking by considering thermal effects also.

• In the recent past several works have been performed to obtain the stationary wave solution for electron beam driven plasma wake field accelerator. However, there is no evidence of any theoretical works performed to investigate the exact space time evolution of electron beam driven non-linear plasma oscillations. In the near future we propose to give an exact spatio-temporal solution for the electron beam driven plasma by introducing Lagrangian variables.

In the preliminary analysis, we observe that the exact parametric solution of the problem can be expressed in terms of incomplete Elliptic integrals. We will extend our analysis further to obtain the full nonlinear Lagrangian solutions of the electron beam driven wake wave generation.

- We are also planning to provide the exact space time dependent Lagrangian solution for the proton driven plasma wake field accelerator (PDPWFA). This investigation will certainly contribute to the theoretical knowledge of the ongoing experimental AWAKE [Advanced Proton Driven Plasma Wakefield Acceleration Experiment] project at CERN dealing with the description of the plasma properties of wake field accelerator.
- Lagrangian variables are very beneficial in order to obtain simple analytical solutions that lead to basic understanding of the wake wave dynamics and help with designing large scale simulations of the problem. However, in reality, a proper theoretical model of three dimensional systems encounters

significant mathematical difficulties. Geometry also adds additional complexities. In order to investigate three dimensional problems we propose to apply plasma simulations based on the PIC (Particle in Cell) method.[110, 111] Such simulations may also provide additional support for the analytical results in simpler geometry. In this approach, the charge density is deposited in the mesh of a spatial grid. Then the self-consistent electric fields are calculated on the grid points. This simulation will provide us the scope of observing the time variation of the accelerating beam and the witness beam as well as the modifications of the wave profiles.

• In solar coronal and chromospheric plasmas injection of driving electrons produces wake fields. This is considered to be an important mechanism by which solar flare electrons are accelerated to extreme high energies.[112, 113] Thus our investigations can also be extended to such astrophysical situations.

Finally, we believe that our studies on plasma wave breaking and wake field excitation process, have certain relevance in advancing the research field of nonlinear relativistic wave dynamics and also hold promises to generate significant social and scientific impact in the quest for viable schemes for the production of high energy charged particle accelerators in the near future.

## Bibliography

- F. F. Chen, Introduction to plasma physics and controlled fusion. vol 1: Plasma physics; second edition, springer (1984).
- [2] F. F. Chen, Physica Scripta **1990**, 14 (1990).
- [3] R. C. Davidson, *Methods in nonlinear plasma theory* (Elsevier, 2012).
- [4] T. Tajima and J. Dawson, Physical Review Letters 43, 267 (1979).
- [5] M. Rosenbluth and C. Liu, Physical Review Letters **29**, 701 (1972).
- [6] J. Faure, Y. Glinec, A. Pukhov, S. Kiselev, S. Gordienko, E. Lefebvre, J.-P. Rousseau, F. Burgy, and V. Malka, Nature 431, 541 (2004).
- [7] P. K. Shukla, Physics of Plasmas 6, 1363 (1999).
- [8] E. Esarey, Rev. Mod. Phys. **81**, 1229 (2009).
- [9] C. Joshi, Scientific American **294**, 40 (2006).
- [10] M. Litos, E. Adli, W. An, C. Clarke, C. Clayton, S. Corde, J. Delahaye,
  R. England, A. Fisher, J. Frederico, et al., Nature 515, 92 (2014).
- [11] J. B. Rosenzweig, D. Cline, B. Cole, H. Figueroa, W. Gai, R. Konecny, J. Norem, P. Schoessow, and J. Simpson, Physical review letters 61, 98 (1988).

- [12] R. K. Bera, S. Sengupta, and A. Das, Physics of Plasmas 22, 073109 (2015).
- [13] T. Katsouleas and J. Dawson, Physical Review Letters 51, 392 (1983).
- [14] K. L. Bane, P. Chen, and P. Wilson, IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. M&S2 3524 (1985).
- [15] A. Esfandyari-Kalejahi, I. Kourakis, B. Dasmalchi, and M. Sayarizadeh, Physics of plasmas 13, 042305 (2006).
- [16] J. Drake, Y. Lee, K. Nishikawa, and N. Tsintsadze, Physical Review Letters 36, 196 (1976).
- [17] P. Stewart, Astronomy and Astrophysics 55, 387 (1977).
- [18] E. Infeld and G. Rowlands, Physical review letters **62**, 1122 (1989).
- [19] S. Sengupta, V. Saxena, P. K. Kaw, A. Sen, and A. Das, Physical Review E 79, 026404 (2009).
- [20] H. Xu, Z.-M. Sheng, and J. Zhang, Physica Scripta 74, 673 (2006).
- [21] J. M. Dawson, Physical Review **113**, 383 (1959).
- [22] E. Infeld, G. Rowlands, and S. Torven, Physical review letters 62, 2269 (1989).
- [23] A. Kovalenko and V. Kovalenko, Physical Review E 53, 4046 (1996).
- [24] S. S. Gupta and P. K. Kaw, Physical review letters 82, 1867 (1999).
- [25] T. Katsouleas, Physical Review A **33**, 2056 (1986).

- [26] P. Chen, J. Dawson, R. W. Huff, and T. Katsouleas, Physical review letters 54, 693 (1985).
- [27] P. Chen, J. Su, J. Dawson, K. L. F. Bane, and P. Wilson, Physical review letters 56, 1252 (1986).
- [28] C. Joshi, Physics of plasmas 14, 525 (2007).
- [29] I. Blumenfeld, C. E. Clayton, F.-J. Decker, M. J. Hogan, C. Huang, R. Ischebeck, R. Iverson, C. Joshi, T. Katsouleas, N. Kirby, et al., Nature 445, 741 (2007).
- [30] J. B. Rosenzweig, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, 555 (1987).
- [31] P. Jha, A. Saroch, and R. K. Mishra, EPL (Europhysics Letters) 94, 15001 (2011).
- [32] Y. Glinec, J. Faure, A. Lifschitz, J. Vieira, R. A. Fonseca, L. Silva, and V. Malka, EPL (Europhysics Letters) 81, 64001 (2008).
- [33] S. Chattopadhyay and R. M. Jones, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 657, 168 (2011).
- [34] W. Leemans and E. Esarey, Phys. Today **62**, 44 (2009).
- [35] R. Assmann, R. Bingham, T. Bohl, C. Bracco, B. Buttenschön, A. Butterworth, A. Caldwell, S. Chattopadhyay, S. Cipiccia, E. Feldbaumer, et al., Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 56, 084013 (2014).
- [36] K. Lotov, Physics of Plasmas **22**, 103110 (2015).

- [37] R. Bingham, J. Mendonca, and P. Shukla, Plasma physics and controlled Fusion 46, R1 (2003).
- [38] A. Caldwell, K. Lotov, A. Pukhov, and F. Simon, Nature Physics 5, 363 (2009).
- [39] A. Caldwell and K. Lotov, Physics of Plasmas 18, 103101 (2011).
- [40] K. Lotov, A. Pukhov, and A. Caldwell, Physics of Plasmas **20**, 013102 (2013).
- [41] N. Kumar, A. Pukhov, and K. Lotov, Physical review letters 104, 255003 (2010).
- [42] C. Schroeder, C. Benedetti, E. Esarey, F. Grüner, and W. Leemans, Physical review letters 107, 145002 (2011).
- [43] J. Vieira, R. Fonseca, W. Mori, and L. Silva, Physical review letters 109, 145005 (2012).
- [44] M. Litos, E. Adli, J. Allen, W. An, C. Clarke, S. Corde, C. Clayton, J. Frederico, S. Gessner, S. Green, et al., Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 58, 034017 (2016).
- [45] K. Lotov, Physical Review Special Topics-Accelerators and Beams 13, 041301 (2010).
- [46] C. Maity, A. Sarkar, P. K. Shukla, and N. Chakrabarti, Physical review letters 110, 215002 (2013).
- [47] S. V. Bulanov, T. Zh. Esirkepov, M. Kando, J. K. Koga, T. Hosokai, A. G. Zhidkov, and R. Kodama, Physics of Plasmas 20, 083113 (2013).

- [48] M. Karmakar, C. Maity, and N. Chakrabarti, Physics of Plasmas 23, 064503 (2016).
- [49] A. Akhiezer, Sov. Phys. JETP **3**, 696 (1956).
- [50] J. Dawson, The Physics of Fluids 5, 445 (1962).
- [51] R. Davidson and P. Schram, Nuclear Fusion 8, 183 (1968).
- [52] T. Coffey, The Physics of Fluids 14, 1402 (1971).
- [53] T. Katsouleas and W. Mori, Physical review letters **61**, 90 (1988).
- [54] J. Rosenzweig, Physical Review A **38**, 3634 (1988).
- [55] Z. M. Sheng and J. Meyer-ter Vehn, Physics of Plasmas 4, 493 (1997).
- [56] W. Mori and T. Katsouleas, Physica Scripta **1990**, 127 (1990).
- [57] A. G. Khachatryan, Physical Review E 58, 7799 (1998).
- [58] L. Gorbunov, P. Mora, and R. Ramazashvili, Physical Review E 65, 036401 (2002).
- [59] G. Kichigin, Radiophysics and quantum electronics 48, 447 (2005).
- [60] J. Stamper, K. Papadopoulos, R. Sudan, S. Dean, E. McLean, and J. Dawson, Physical Review Letters 26, 1012 (1971).
- [61] D. Lai and E. E. Salpeter, The Astrophysical Journal 491, 270 (1997).
- [62] B. A. Remington, R. P. Drake, and D. D. Ryutov, Rev. Mod. Phys. 78, 755 (2006).

- [63] M. Tatarakis, I. Watts, F. Beg, E. Clark, A. Dangor, A. Gopal, M. Haines,P. Norreys, U. Wagner, M.-S. Wei, et al., Nature 415, 280 (2002).
- [64] U. Wagner, M. Tatarakis, A. Gopal, F. Beg, E. Clark, A. Dangor, R. Evans,
  M. Haines, S. Mangles, P. Norreys, et al., Physical Review E 70, 026401 (2004).
- [65] J. Zhong, Y. Li, X. Wang, J. Wang, Q. Dong, C. Xiao, S. Wang, X. Liu, L. Zhang, L. An, et al., Nature Physics 6, 984 (2010).
- [66] C. Maity, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, Journal of Mathematical Physics 52, 043101 (2011).
- [67] C. Maity, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, Physical Review E 86, 016408 (2012).
- [68] P. Singh Verma, S. Sengupta, and P. Kaw, Physics of Plasmas 19, 032110 (2012).
- [69] J. Albritton and G. Rowlands, Nuclear Fusion 15, 1199 (1975).
- [70] E. Infeld and G. Rowlands, Physical Review A 42, 838 (1990).
- [71] C. Nappi, A. Forlani, and R. Fedele, Physica scripta 43, 301 (1991).
- [72] H. Schamel, Physics reports **392**, 279 (2004).
- [73] I. Kourakis and P. K. Shukla, The European Physical Journal D-Atomic, Molecular, Optical and Plasma Physics 30, 97 (2004).
- [74] F. Rizzato, Journal of plasma physics **40**, 289 (1988).

- [75] P. Shukla and L. Stenflo, Astrophysics and space science **209**, 323 (1993).
- [76] V. Berezhiani and S. Mahajan, Physical review letters 73, 1110 (1994).
- [77] H. Hasegawa, S. Irie, S. Usami, and Y. Ohsawa, Physics of Plasmas 9, 2549 (2002).
- [78] G. Lehmann and K. Spatschek, Physical Review E 83, 036401 (2011).
- [79] D. Lu, Z.-L. Li, and B.-S. Xie, Physical Review E 88, 033109 (2013).
- [80] P. Sturrock, The Astrophysical Journal 164, 529 (1971).
- [81] F. C. Michel, Reviews of Modern Physics 54, 1 (1982).
- [82] M. Karmakar, C. Maity, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, The European Physical Journal D 70, 144 (2016).
- [83] A. Caldwell, E. Adli, L. Amorim, R. Apsimon, T. Argyropoulos, R. Assmann, A.-M. Bachmann, F. Batsch, J. Bauche, V. B. Olsen, et al., Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 829, 3 (2016).
- [84] P. Koch and J. Albritton, Physical Review Letters **32**, 1420 (1974).
- [85] C. Joshi, W. Mori, T. Katsouleas, J. Dawson, J. Kindel, and D. Forslund, Nature **311**, 525 (1984).
- [86] A. Modena, Z. Najmudin, A. Dangor, C. Clayton, K. Marsh, C. Joshi,
  V. Malka, C. Darrow, C. Danson, D. Neely, et al., nature **377**, 606 (1995).
- [87] W. L. Kruer, The Physics of Fluids **22**, 1111 (1979).

- [88] E. Esarey and M. Pilloff, Physics of Plasmas 2, 1432 (1995).
- [89] T. Katsouleas, Nature **431**, 515 (2004).
- [90] R. Bingham, Nature **445**, 721 (2007).
- [91] M. E. Dieckmann, B. Eliasson, and P. Shukla, The Astrophysical Journal 617, 1361 (2004).
- [92] P. Gibbon, Short laser pulse interaction with matter (2005).
- [93] P. S. Verma, S. Sengupta, and P. Kaw, Physical review letters 108, 125005 (2012).
- [94] P. S. Verma, Physics of Plasmas 23, 122125 (2016).
- [95] L. Stenflo, M. Marklund, G. Brodin, and P. K. Shukla, Journal of plasma physics 72, 429 (2006).
- [96] R. Trines, Physical Review E **79**, 056406 (2009).
- [97] G. Brodin and L. Stenflo, Physics Letters A **381**, 1033 (2017).
- [98] P. K. Kaw, A. Lin, and J. Dawson, The Physics of Fluids 16, 1967 (1973).
- [99] C. Maity, Physics of Plasmas **21**, 072317 (2014).
- [100] S. Pramanik, C. Maity, and N. Chakrabarti, Physics of Plasmas 22, 052303 (2015).
- [101] A. Kakad and B. Kakad, Physics of Plasmas 23, 122101 (2016).
- [102] R. K. Bera, A. Mukherjee, S. Sengupta, and A. Das, Physics of Plasmas 23, 083113 (2016).

- [103] L. Stenflo and G. Brodin, Physics of Plasmas 23, 074501 (2016).
- [104] G. Brodin and L. Stenflo, Physics of Plasmas 24, 124505 (2017).
- [105] S. ZHOU, H. CHEN, and Y. LI, Plasma Science and Technology 20, 014008 (2018).
- [106] G. Kalman, Annals of Physics **10**, 1 (1960).
- [107] A. Sarkar, C. Maity, and N. Chakrabarti, Physics of Plasmas 20, 052301 (2013).
- [108] N. Bogoliubov, Y. A. Mitropolsky, and J. Gillis, Physics Today 16, 61 (1963).
- [109] M. Karmakar, C. Maity, N. Chakrabarti, and S. Sengupta, Physics of Plasmas 25, 022102 (2018).
- [110] C. Birdsall, A. Langdon, V. Vehedi, and J. Verboncoeur, New York (1991).
- [111] R. Hockney and J. Eastwood, (MC. Grax-Hill, New York, 1981) 8, 267 (1981).
- [112] V. Berezhiani, Z. Osmanov, and M. Belic, arXiv preprint arXiv:1605.00905 (2016).
- [113] D. Tsiklauri, Physics of Plasmas 24, 072902 (2017).